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INTEC PHARMA LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Unaudited)
September 30,
December 31,
2019
2018
U.S. dollars
in thousands
Assets
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment in marketable securities (Note 3)
Prepaid expenses and other receivables
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS

$

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
Other assets (Note 4b)
Property and equipment, net (Note 4b)
Operating lease right-of-use assets (Note 4a)
Deferred tax assets
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS

14,966
767
2,453
18,186

$

4,204
6,200
1,687
504
12,595

TOTAL ASSETS
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
CURRENT LIABILITIES Accounts payable and accruals:
Trade
Other (Note 6)
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES Non-current operating lease liabilities (Note 4a)
Other liabilities
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES

5,431
12,233
281
17,945

$

30,781

$

61,510

$

4,834
6,774
11,608

$

2,849
4,807
7,656

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 4)
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Ordinary shares, with no par value - authorized: 100,000,000 Ordinary Shares as of September 30, 2019 and December
31, 2018; issued and outstanding: 35,019,479 and 33,232,988 Ordinary Shares as of September 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
$

1,132
554
1,686
13,294

727
199,627
(182,867 )
17,487
30,781 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
3

39,246
1,333
2,986
43,565

309
309
7,965

727
194,642
(141,824 )
53,545
61,510

INTEC PHARMA LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited)
Three months ended
September 30
2019
2018
U.S. dollars
in thousands
OPERATING EXPENSES:
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES, net
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
OPERATING LOSS
FINANCIAL INCOME (EXPENSES), net
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX
TAX BENEFIT (INCOME TAX)
NET LOSS

(8,448)
(2,157)
(9,759 )
(20,364)
14
(20,350)
(28)
(20,378)

LOSS PER SHARE BASIC AND DILUTED

(0.61)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING USED IN
COMPUTATION OF BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER ORDINARY
SHARE IN THOUSANDS

33,516

Nine months ended
September 30
2019
2018
U.S. dollars
in thousands

(7,809)
(1,696)
(9,505)
163
(9,342)
164
(9,178 )
U.S. dollars
(0.28)

33,226

(24,850)
(6,491)
(9,759 )
(41,100)
157
(40,943)
(100)
(41,043)

(25,089)
(5,800)

(1.23)

(1.01)

33,356

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(30,889)
(5)
(30,894)
(46)
(30,940)

30,505

(Continued) - 1
INTEC PHARMA LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Unaudited)
Additional
paid-in
capital

Ordinary Shares
Number of
shares
Amounts
BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2018
CHANGES IN THE NINE-MONTH PERIOD ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2018:
Issuance of ordinary shares, net of issuance costs
Exercise of options
Share-based compensation (Note 5b)
Net loss
BALANCE AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2018
BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2019
CHANGES IN THE NINE-MONTH PERIOD ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2019:
Issuance of ordinary shares, net of issuance costs (Note
5a(1))
Exercise of options (Note 5a(2))
Share-based compensation (Note 5b)
Net loss
BALANCE AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2019

26,075,770
7,150,000
218
33,225,988

$

33,232,988
1,716,679
69,812
35,019,479

Accumulated
Deficit

Amounts
U.S. dollars in thousands

$

$

727
727

$

$

156,356
35,029
1
2,452
193,838

$

727

$

727

$

(98,281) $
(30,940)
(129,221) $

58,802
35,029
1
2,452
(30,940)
65,344

$

194,642

$

(141,824) $

53,545

$

1,969
268
2,748
199,627

1,969
268
2,748
(41,043)

$

(41,043)
(182,867 ) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Total

17,487

(Continued) - 2
INTEC PHARMA LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Unaudited)
Additional
paid-in
capital

Ordinary Shares
Number of
shares
Amounts

BALANCE AT JULY 1, 2018
CHANGES IN THE THREE-MONTH PERIOD ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2018:
Share-based compensation (Note 5b)
Net loss
BALANCE AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

33,225,988

$

727

33,225,988

BALANCE AT JULY 1, 2019
CHANGES IN THE THREE-MONTH PERIOD ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 2019:
Issuance of ordinary shares, net of issuance costs (Note
5a(1))
Share-based compensation (Note 5b)
Net loss
BALANCE AT SEPTEMBER 30, 2019

33,302,800

1,716,679
35,019,479

Accumulated
Deficit

Amounts
U.S. dollars in thousands
$

192,987

$

(120,043) $

73,671

$

727

$

851
193,838

$

(9,178 )
(129,221) $

851
(9,178 )
65,344

$

727

$

196,871

$

(162,489) $

35,109

$

727

$

1,969
787
199,627

$

(20,378)
(182,867 ) $

1,969
787
(20,378)
17,487

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Total

INTEC PHARMA LTD.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)
Nine months ended
September 30
2019
2018
U.S. dollars in thousands
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments required to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation
Impairment of long-lived asset
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents
Right of use asset
Lease liability
Losses (gains) on marketable securities
Share-based compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other receivables
Increase in deferred tax assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accruals
Increase in other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and equipment
Investment in other assets
Proceeds from disposal (purchase) of marketable securities, net
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from exercise of options
Net cash provided by financing activities
DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD
EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Liability with respect to property and equipment (see note 4b(1))
Liability with respect to other assets (see note 4b(2))
SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION Taxes paid
Interest received

(41,043)
643
9,759
69
523
(380)
(10)
2,748

(528)
141
2,452

483
(223)
3,268
245
(23,918)

(979)
(1,734)
(30,949)

(791)
(2,315)
576
(2,530 )

(2,632)
(2,450)
(38)
(5,120 )

1,969
268
2,237
(24,211)
39,246
(69)

35,029
1
35,030
(1,039)
53,393
528
52,882

14,966

639

123

1,898

549

244

50

31

315

522

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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(30,940)

INTEC PHARMA LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION:
a.

Nature of operations
1)

Intec Pharma Ltd. (“Intec”) is engaged in the development of proprietary technology which enables the gastric retention of certain drugs.
The technology is intended to significantly improve the efficiency of the drugs and substantially reduce their side-effects or the effective
doses.
Intec is a limited liability public company incorporated in Israel.
Intec’s ordinary shares are traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market (“NASDAQ”).
In September 2017, Intec incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary in the United States of America in the State of Delaware - Intec Pharma
Inc. (the “Subsidiary”, together with Intec - “the Company”). The Subsidiary was incorporated mainly to provide Intec executive and
management services, including business development, medical affairs and investor relationship activities outside of Israel.

2)

The Company engages in research and development activities and has not yet generated revenues from operations. In addition, on July 22,
2019, the Company announced top-line results according to which its Phase III clinical trial for AP-CD/LD did not achieve its primary and
secondary endpoints. As these results are considered a triggering event, the Company performed an impairment test on certain of its longlived assets which resulted in an impairment charge of approximately $9.8 million. For more details see note 4b(3). Accordingly, there is
no assurance that the Company’s operations will generate positive cash flows. As of September 30, 2019, the cumulative losses of the
Company were approximately $182.9 million. Management expects that the Company will continue to incur losses from its operations,
which will result in negative cash flows from operating activities.
The Company believes that it has adequate cash to fund its ongoing activities into the second quarter of 2020. Its ability to execute its
operating plan beyond the second quarter of 2020 is dependent on its ability to obtain additional capital principally through entering into
collaborations, strategic alliances, or license agreements with third parties and/or raising capital from the public and/or private investors
and/or institutional investors. The negative outcome of the Phase III clinical trial that was announced on July 22, 2019 and uncertainty
regarding the Company’s development programs is expected to adversely affect its ability to obtain funding and there is no assurance that it
will be successful in obtaining the level of financing needed for its activities. The Company has taken measures to reduce its costs,
including reducing headcount, and is continuingly evaluating measures to reduce additional costs to preserve existing capital. If the
Company is unsuccessful in securing sufficient financing, it may need to curtail or cease operations. As a result, there is substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the issuance date of these financial statements.
These financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern and do not include any
adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.

3)

On March 1, 2019, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Cowen and Company, LLC (“Cowen”).
During September 2019, the Company sold 1,716,679 ordinary shares under the Sales Agreement raising a total of approximately $2.0
million (net of issuance expenses of $107 thousand). For more details see note 5a(1).
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INTEC PHARMA LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued):
b.

Basis of presentation
The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) and S-X Article 10 for interim financial statements. Accordingly,
they do not contain all information and notes required by US GAAP for annual financial statements. In the opinion of management, these
unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements reflect all adjustments, which include normal recurring adjustments, necessary
for a fair statement of the Company’s consolidated financial position as of September 30, 2019, the consolidated results of operations, changes
in equity for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 and cash flows for the nine-month periods ended September
30, 2019 and 2018.
These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, as filed in the 10-K
on February 27, 2019. The condensed balance sheet data as of December 31, 2018 included in these unaudited condensed consolidated financial
statements was derived from the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 but does not include all disclosures
required by US GAAP for annual financial statements.
The results for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019 are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the year ending
December 31, 2019.

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
a.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Intec and its Subsidiary. Intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated upon consolidation.

b.

Fair value measurement
Fair value is based on the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or that would be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In order to increase consistency and comparability in fair value measurements,
the guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes observable and unobservable inputs used to measure fair value into nine broad
levels, which are described as follows:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for assets or liabilities. The fair value
hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.
Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets but corroborated by market data.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3
inputs.
In determining fair value, the Company utilizes valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs to the extent possible and considers counterparty credit risk in its assessment of fair value.
The marketable securities which are measures at fair value are categorized as Level 1.
The carrying amount of the cash and cash equivalents, other receivable and accrued expenses and other liabilities approximates their fair value.
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INTEC PHARMA LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):
c.

Loss per share
Loss per share, basic and diluted, is computed on the basis of the net loss for the period divided by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is based upon the weighted average number of ordinary shares and of ordinary shares
equivalents outstanding when dilutive. Ordinary share equivalents include outstanding stock options which are included under the treasury stock
method when dilutive.
The following share options were excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per ordinary share because their effect would have been antidilutive for the periods presented (share data):
Three months ended
September 30
2019
2018
4,156,765
3,466,482

Outstanding stock options
d.

Nine months ended
September 30
2019
2018
4,314,300
3,247,927

Research and development expenses, net
Research and development expenses, net for the three and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, include participation in
research and development expenses as follows:
Three months ended
Nine months ended
September 30
September 30
2019
2018
2019
2018
U.S. dollars in thousands
168
92
983
550

Participation in research and development expenses
e.

Newly adopted accounting pronouncements
1)

In February 2016, the FASB established ASC Topic 842, “Leases” (Topic 842), by issuing ASU No. 2016-02, which requires lessees to
recognize leases on-balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The new standard establishes a right-of-use
(ROU) model that requires a lessee to recognize a ROU asset and lease liability on the balance sheet. Leases will be classified as finance or
operating, with classification affecting the pattern and classification of expense recognition in the statement of operations. The Company
adopted the new standard on January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective transition method and has not restated comparative periods.
The new standard provides a number of optional practical expedients in transition. The Company has elected the ‘package of practical
expedients’, which permits it not to reassess under the new standard its prior conclusions about lease identification, lease classification and
initial direct costs for leases entered into prior to adoption of Topic 842.
Additionally, the Company did not separate lease and non-lease components for all of its leases. The Company elected the short-term lease
recognition exemption for all leases that qualify. This means, for those leases that qualify, the Company will not recognize ROU assets or
lease liabilities, and this includes not recognizing ROU assets or lease liabilities for existing short-term leases of those assets in transition.
Instead, the Company will continue to recognize the lease payments for those leases in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.
The most significant effects of adoption relate to (1) the recognition of new ROU assets and lease liabilities on its balance sheet for real
estate operating leases; and (2) providing significant new disclosures about its leasing activities.
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INTEC PHARMA LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued):
Upon adoption, the Company recognized additional operating lease liabilities, of approximately $2.2 million based on the present value of
the remaining lease payments under current leasing standards for existing operating leases. The Company also recognized corresponding
ROU assets of approximately $2.2 million. Lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when the Company is
reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. Lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company’s
leases may include variable payments based on measures that include changes in price index which are expensed as incurred and presented
as operating expense on the condensed consolidated statements of operations in the same line item as expense arising from fixed lease
payments.
The new standard also provides practical expedients for an entity’s ongoing accounting. Beginning in 2019, the Company changed its
disclosed lease recognition policies and practices, as well as to other related financial statement disclosures due to the adoption of this
standard. See Note 4a.
2)

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, “Compensation-Stock Compensation” (Topic 718” or “ASU 2018-07”) to improve the
usefulness of information provided to users of financial statements while reducing cost and complexity in financial reporting and provide
guidance aligning the measurement and classification for share-based payments to nonemployees with the guidance for share-based
payments to employees. Under the guidance, the measurement of equity-classified nonemployee awards will be fixed at the grant date. This
standard, adopted as of January 1, 2019, had no material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 3 - MARKETABLE SECURITIES
The Company’s marketable securities have a minimum of A rating by global rating agencies. These marketable securities are recorded at fair value
with changes recorded in the statement of operations as “financial income, net”, as the Company chose to apply the fair value option.
As of September 30, 2019, and December 31, 2018, the amount of the marketable securities is approximately $0.8 million and $1.3 million,
respectively.
The gain, net from changes in marketable securities for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019 amounted to approximately $10 thousand
and the loss, net from changes in marketable securities for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018 amounted to approximately $141
thousand. The gain, net from changes in marketable securities for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2019 and 2018 amounted to
approximately $5 thousand and $13 thousand, respectively.
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INTEC PHARMA LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 4 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES:
a.

Lease Agreements
1)

The Company is a tenant under a lease agreement in respect of offices and operational spaces in Jerusalem until June 30, 2021. The lease
agreement includes an option to extend the lease term until June 30, 2022 (the “Extension Option”). The exercise of the Extension Option
may be made in the Company’s sole discretion. Rent payments are denominated in NIS and linked to the Israeli CPI.
To secure the Company’s obligations to the lease agreement in Jerusalem, the Company granted a bank guarantee to the lessor, which
amounted to approximately $146 thousand as of September 30, 2019.
The Company also leases office space in Modi’in and New York City for a short-term period.

2)

The Company has entered into operating lease agreements for vehicles used by its employees. The lease periods are generally for three years
and the payments are linked to the Israeli CPI. To secure the terms of the lease agreements, the Company has made certain prepayments to
the leasing company, representing approximately three months of lease payments.
Lease expense for the three and nine month-period ended September 30, 2019 was comprised of the following:
Three months Nine months
ended
ended
September 30, September 30,
2019
2019
U.S. dollars in thousands
190
576
26
76
1
2
217
654

Operating lease expense
Short-term lease expense
Variable lease expense

Supplemental information related to leases are as follows:
September 30,
2019
U.S. dollars
in thousands
1,685
662
1,132

Operating lease right-of-use assets
Current Operating lease liabilities
Non-current operating lease liabilities
Other information:
Operating cash flows from operating leases (cash paid in thousands)
Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term
Weighted Average Discount Rate
12

563
2.65
5.43%

INTEC PHARMA LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 4 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued):
Maturities of lease liabilities are as follows:
Year

2019 (excluding the nine months ended September 30, 2019)
2020
2021
2022
Total lease payments
Less imputed interest
Total
3)

Amount
U.S. dollars
in thousands
185
728
668
333
1,914
(120)
1,794

ASC 840 DisclosuresThe Company elected the modified retrospective transition method and included the following tables previously disclosed.
Future contractual obligations under the abovementioned operating lease agreements (not including the Extension Option) as of December
31, 2018 are as follows:
Amount
U.S. dollars
in thousands
772
721
332
1,825

Year

2019
2020
2021
Total
b.

Establishment of the Commercial Scale Production Capabilities for AP-CD/LD
1)

Automated Production Line
In April 2017, the Company engaged with an international manufacturer for ordering a large-scale automated production line for
manufacturing Accordion Pills (the “Production Line”). The total cost of the Production Line amounted to approximately €8.1 million. As of
September 30, 2019, and December 31, 2018, the Company transferred payments of approximately €8.1 million (approximately $9.4
million) and €7.4 million (approximately $8.6 million), respectively. In addition, as of September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 the
Company recognized a liability in the amount of approximately €113 thousand (approximately $123 thousand) and €148 thousand
(approximately $170 thousand), respectively. As of the date of the issuance of these condensed consolidated financial statements, the
installation process and qualification studies of the Production Line at the commercial site at Lohmann Therapie-Systeme AG (“LTS”) was
completed and the Company intends to begin the validation and stability studies in the coming months. For more details regarding the
Manufacturing Services with LTS see note 2 below.
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INTEC PHARMA LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 4 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued):
2)

LTS Process Development Agreement
In December 2018, the Company entered into a Process Development Agreement for Manufacturing Services with LTS for the manufacture
of AP-CD/LD (the “Agreement”). Under the Agreement, the Company will bear the costs incurred by LTS to acquire the production
equipment for AP-CD/LD (“Equipment”) in the amount of approximately €7.0 million, however such amount will later be reimbursed to the
Company by LTS in the form of a reduction in the purchase price of the AP-CD/LD product. As of September 30, 2019, the Company
transferred payments of approximately €6.3 million (approximately $7.2 million) in costs of the Equipment, of which approximately €2.0
million (approximately $2.3 million) was paid during the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019 and recognized a liability in an
additional amount of approximately €502 thousand (approximately $549 thousand) and as of December 31, 2018 recognized a liability of
€436 thousand (approximately $499 thousand). The Company has recognized the Equipment as non-current other assets.
The Agreement contains several termination rights which are expected to be included in a definitive manufacturing and supply agreement.
As of September 30, 2019, the Company recognized a liability that was recorded against research and development expenses, net in the
amount of approximately €3.0 million (approximately $3.3 million), for LTS’s facility upgrading costs, of which €1.0 million (approximately
$1.1 million) was paid in October 2019. The remaining liability balance in the amount of €2.0 million (approximately $2.2 million) will be
paid to LTS only if the Company decides to not continue with the project or commercialization of AP-CD/LD. The liability that was recorded
as of December 31, 2018, was approximately €1.65 million (approximately $1.9 million).

3)

Impairment Assessment
The Company’s long-lived assets include property, plant and equipment and long-term other assets. The Company evaluates its long-lived
assets for impairment in accordance with ASC 360, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such
assets may not be recoverable. Estimates of future cash flows and timing of events for evaluating long-lived assets for impairment are based
upon management’s assumptions and market conditions. If any of its long-lived assets are considered to be impaired, the amount of
impairment to be recognized is the excess of the carrying amount of the assets over its fair value.
In July 2019, the Company announced top-line results from its pivotal Phase III clinical trial for AP-CD/LD for the treatment of advanced
Parkinson’s which did not meet its target endpoints. The Company determined that the Phase III clinical trial results constituted a triggering
event that required the Company to evaluate its Production Line and Equipment, net, from the liability described in note 4b(2), together
“AP-CD/LD Assets, net”, for impairment test.
For the three and nine month period ended September 30, 2019, the Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $9.8 million
of its AP-CD/LD Assets, net, which represents the excess carrying value compared to the fair value of the AP-CD/LD Assets, net. As of
September 30, 2019, the fair value of the AP-CD/LD Assets, net, is approximately $5.4 million.
The impairment charge is recorded as an operating expense and was the result of both internal and external factors. The fair value was
determined using the discounted cash flow method (level 3) which utilized significant estimates and assumptions surrounding the amount and
timing of the projected net cash flows, which includes the probability of out-licensing the AP-CD/LD program to a third-party, the
probability of obtaining FDA approval, the expected impact of competition, the discount rate, which seeks to reflect the various risks inherent
in the projected cash flows, and the tax rate.
While management believes the assumptions used in their impairment assessment are reasonable, any changes in the actual market conditions
versus the assumptions used in the model could result in a change in estimated future cash flows, which may result in an additional
impairment charge on AP-CD/LD Assets, net in the future.

c.

During 2019 the Company received letters (each a “Letter” and collectively the “Letters”) from several of its former directors and officers. The
Letters include several claims related, among others, to a purported vesting of certain options that were issued to them due to the execution by
the Company of a manufacturing agreement with LTS for the production of the Company’s AP-CD/LD. On July 30, 2019, the board of directors
of the Company resolved that the vesting conditions have not been met. As of the date of the issuance of these condensed consolidated financial
statements, the Company is yet to receive their response, and at this stage cannot assess whether a claim would be filed, and if filed, its
likelihood of success.
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INTEC PHARMA LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 5 - SHARE CAPITAL:
a.

b.

Changes in share capital
1)

On March 1, 2019, the Company entered into a Sales Agreement with Cowen which provides that, upon the terms and subject to the
conditions and limitations in the Sales Agreement, the Company may elect from time to time, to offer and sell ordinary shares through an
“at-the-market” equity offering program having an aggregate offering price of up to $75.0 million through Cowen acting as sales agent. The
issuance and sale of ordinary shares by the Company under the program is being made pursuant to the Company’s effective “shelf”
registration statement on Form S-3 filed with the SEC on March 1, 2019 and declared effective on March 28, 2019. During September 2019,
the Company sold 1,716,679 ordinary shares under the Sales Agreement at an average price of $1.21 per share for aggregate net proceeds of
approximately $2.0 million, net of issuance expenses of $107 thousand.

2)

During the nine-month period ended September 30, 2019, options to purchase 69,812 ordinary shares granted to employees and service
providers were exercised for consideration of approximately $268 thousand.

Share-based compensation:
1)

In January 2016, the Company’s board of directors approved a new option plan (the “2015 Plan”). Originally, the maximum number of
ordinary shares reserved for issuance under the 2015 Plan was 700,000 ordinary shares for grants to directors, employees and consultants. In
July 2016 an increase of 700,000 ordinary shares was approved by the board of directors.
In December 2017 and September 2018, an increase of 2,100,000 and 1,000,000 ordinary shares, respectively, was approved by the
Company’s shareholders at a general meeting of shareholders.
As of September 30, 2019, 175,598 shares remain available for grant under the Plan.

2)

On August 22, 2019, the Company reduced the exercise price of 1,263,655 options previously granted to employees (excluding executive
officers and directors) to $0.44 (determined based on the close price of the Company’s ordinary shares on Nasdaq on August 21, 2019). The
total incremental fair value of these options amounted to $253 and was determined based on the Black-Scholes pricing options model using
the following assumptions: risk free interest rate of 1.5%, expected volatility of 99% - 122%, expected term of 2.6-4.4 years and dividend
yield of: 0%. The incremental fair value of these options will be recognized over the remaining vesting period and until January 2022.

3)

In the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, the Company granted options as follows:

*

Employees*
Directors

Nine months ended September 30, 2019
Number of
options
Exercise price
Vesting
granted
range
period
Expiration
1,465,000
$0.9-$7.64
3 years
7 years
120,000
$4.86
3 years
7 years

Employees*
Directors

Nine months ended September 30, 2018
Number of
options
Exercise price
Vesting
granted
range
period range Expiration
1,175,000
$4.44-$6.67
3 years
7 years
120,000
$4.44
3 years
7 years

As part of the reduction in exercise price of the options described in note 5b(2), the option exercise price was adjusted to $0.44.
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INTEC PHARMA LTD.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)
NOTE 5 - SHARE CAPITAL (continued):
The fair value of options granted to employees during the nine months ended September 30, 2019, and 2018 was $4.4 million and $3.1
million, respectively.
The fair value of options granted to employees on the date of grant was computed using the Black-Scholes model. The underlying data used
for computing the fair value of the options are as follows:
Nine months ended September 30
2019
2018
$1.15-$7.46
$4.20-$6.45
0%
0%
53.32%-97.81%
45.87%-46.47%
1.75%-2.57%
2.25%-2.73%
5 years
5 years

Value of ordinary share
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected term
4)

The following table illustrates the effect of share-based compensation on the statements of operations:
Three months ended
September 30
2019
2018
U.S. dollars in thousands
371
459
416
392
787
851

Research and development expenses, net
General and administrative expenses

Nine months ended
September 30
2019
2018
U.S. dollars in thousands
1,538
1,315
1,210
1,137
2,748
2,452

NOTE 6 - ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS - OTHER:

Expenses payable
Current operating lease liabilities (see Note 4a)
Salary and related expenses, including social security and other taxes
Accrual for vacation days and recreation pay for employees
Other
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September 30, December 31,
2019
2018
U.S. dollars in thousands
$
4,525 $
3,400
662
1,224
1,078
341
309
22
20
$
6,774 $
4,807

Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis provides information that we believe to be relevant to an assessment and understanding of our results of operations
and financial condition for the periods described. This discussion should be read together with our condensed consolidated interim financial statements and the
notes to the financial statements, which are included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This information should also be read in conjunction with the
information contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 27, 2019, including the consolidated annual financial statements as of December 31, 2018 and their accompanying notes included therein. We have
prepared our condensed consolidated interim financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Intec Pharma Ltd. contains forward-looking statements about our expectations, beliefs and intentions. Forwardlooking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking words such as “believe”, “expect”, “intend”, “plan”, “may”, “should”, “could”, “might”,
“seek”, “target”, “will”, “project”, “forecast”, “continue” or “anticipate” or their negatives or variations of these words or other comparable words or by the
fact that these statements do not relate strictly to historical matters. These forward-looking statements are based on assumptions and assessments made in light of
management’s experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments and other factors believed to be appropriate.
Forward-looking statements in Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are made as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, and we undertake no duty to
update or revise any such statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future
performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of our control. Many factors could cause our actual activities or results to differ
materially from the activities and results anticipated in forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, the following: our limited operating history and
history of operating losses, our ability to continue as a going concern, our ability to obtain additional financing, our ability to successfully operate our business or
execute our business plan, our ability to enter into collaborative, licensing, and other commercial relationships and on terms commercially reasonable to us, the
timing and cost of our clinical trials, the completion and receiving favorable results in our clinical trials, our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of
our product candidates, our ability to protect and maintain our intellectual property and licensing arrangements, our ability to develop, manufacture and
commercialize our product candidates, the risk of product liability claims, the availability of reimbursement, and the influence of extensive and costly government
regulation, and our ability to remain listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market. More detailed information about the risks and uncertainties affecting us is contained
under the heading "Risk Factors" included in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2019, and in other filings that we
have made and may make with the Securities and Exchange Commission in the future.
All references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Intec”, “the Company” and “our Company” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are to Intec Pharma Ltd. and
its U.S. subsidiary Intec Pharma Inc., unless the context otherwise requires.
Overview
We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on developing drugs based on our proprietary Accordion Pill platform technology, which we
refer to as the Accordion Pill. Our Accordion Pill is an oral drug delivery system that is designed to improve the efficacy and safety of existing drugs and drugs in
development by utilizing an efficient gastric retention and specific release mechanism. Our product pipeline currently includes several product candidates in
various clinical trial stages. Our leading product candidate, AP-CD/LD, is being developed for the indication of treatment of Parkinson’s disease symptoms in
advanced Parkinson’s disease patients.
In July 2019, we announced top-line results from our pivotal Phase III clinical for AP-CD/LD for the treatment of advanced Parkinson’s disease known as
the ACCORDANCE study in which the ACCORDANCE study did not meet its target endpoints. While AP-CD/LD provided treatment for Parkinson’s disease
symptoms, it did not demonstrate statistically superiority over immediate release CD/LD on the primary endpoint of OFF time reduction under the conditions
established in the protocol. Treatment-emergent adverse effects observed with AP-CD/LD were generally consistent with the known safety profile of CD/LD
formulations and no new safety issues were observed throughout the double-blinded study, during the gastroscopy safety sub-study or the 12-month open-label
extension study. From our review of the data, we have observed a meaningful reduction in OFF time in certain subsets of patients. We have completed most of the
analysis of the full data set and we are currently seeking to partner AP-CD/LD as the basis for the strategy for AP-CD/LD moving forward.
Previously, we successfully completed a Phase II clinical trial for AP-CD/LD for the treatment of Parkinson’s disease symptoms in advanced Parkinson’s
disease patients and in February 2019, we announced that AP-CD/LD met the primary endpoint in a pharmacokinetic, or PK, study comparing the AP-CD/LD
50/500mg dosed three times daily, the most common dose used in our ACCORDANCE study, to 1.5 tablets of CD/LD immediate release (Sinemet™) 25/100
dosed five times per day in Parkinson’s disease patients.
We have invested in the commercial scale manufacture of AP-CD/LD, for which we are in partnership with LTS Lohmann Therapie-Systeme AG, or
LTS. In December 2018, the large commercial scale production line ("Production Line") was delivered to LTS in Andernach, Germany and recently we completed
the qualification studies for the commercial scale manufacture of the Accordion Pill and we intend to begin the validation and stability studies in the coming
months.
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In addition, we have initiated a clinical development program for our Accordion Pill platform with the two primary cannabinoids contained in cannabis
sativa, which we refer to as AP-Cannabinoids. We are formulating and testing CBD and THC for the treatment of various pain indications. AP-Cannabinoids are
designed to extend the absorption phase of CBD and THC, with the goal of more consistent levels for an improved therapeutic effect, which may address several
major drawbacks of current methods of treatment, such as short duration of effect, delayed onset, variability of exposure, variability of the administered dose and
adverse events that correlate with peak levels. In March 2017, we initiated a Phase I single-center, single-dose, randomized, three-way crossover clinical trial in
Israel to compare the safety, tolerability and PK of AP-THC/CBD with Sativex®, an oral buccal spray containing CBD and THC that is commercially available
outside of the United States. Initial results demonstrated that the Accordion Pill platform is well suited to safely deliver CBD and THC with significant
improvements in exposure compared with Sativex®. In December 2018, we initiated a PK study of AP-THC and the results of the study demonstrate that the
custom designed AP delivery system in the AP-THC PK study did not meet our expectations. We are continuing to advance the AP-Cannabinoids clinical
development program and we are seeking to launch a PK study with the optimized AP-THC in 2020.
While the ACCORDANCE results were not what we expected, we continue to believe in the potential of the Accordion Pill platform. In December 2018,
we reported that we successfully developed an Accordion Pill for a Novartis proprietary compound that met the required in vitro specifications set forth in a
feasibility agreement with Novartis. We recently completed the human PK study that was initiated during the first quarter of 2019 and the study demonstrated that
the AP met the technical requirements set forth by Novartis. Novartis undertook a full commercial assessment of the program, and to date, has not definitively
decided whether they will opt into negotiations for a commercial agreement. As a result, we have determined that will not need the volume of clinical
manufacturing to support that program at this time and plan to restructure those dedicated to the Novartis program in order to reduce our burn.
In May 2019, we reported entering into a research collaboration agreement with Merck for the development of a custom-designed AP for one of Merck’s
proprietary compounds and are now initiating the design and construction of this new AP. We aim to have a final construct completed and in-vitro tested by the
middle of 2020.
We continue to advance discussions with other potential pharmaceutical partners for the development of new custom-designed APs. We believe the data
from our ACCORDANCE trial enhances those discussions as it validates the AP platform and provides long-term safety data.
Results of Operations
The table below provides our results of operations for the periods indicated.
Three months ended
September 30
2018
2019
(dollars in thousands)
Research and development expenses, net
General and administrative expenses
Impairment of long-lived assets
Operating loss
Financial income (expenses), net
Loss before income tax
Tax benefit (Income tax)
Net loss

$

$

(7,809)
(1,696)
(9,505)
163
(9,342)
164
(9,178)

$

$

(8,448) $
(2,157)
(9,759 )
(20,364)
14
(20,350)
(28)
(20,378) $

Nine months ended
September 30
2018
2019
(dollars in thousands)
(25,089) $
(5,800)
(30,889)
(5)
(30,894)
(46)
(30,940) $

(24,850)
(6,491)
(9,759 )
(41,100)
157
(40,943)
(100)
(41,043)

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019 Compared to Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018
Research and Development Expenses, Net
Our research and development expenses, net, for the three months ended September 30, 2019 amounted to approximately $8.4 million, an increase of
approximately $600,000, or 8%, compared to approximately $7.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018. The increase for the three-month period
was primarily due to an increase in expenses related to our open label extension study. This increase was offset by a decrease in expenses related to our
ACCORDANCE study and a decrease in expenses related to the scale up activities for the commercial scale production capabilities for AP-CD/LD at LTS.
Our research and development expenses, net, for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 amounted to approximately $24.9 million, a decrease of
approximately $200,000, or 1%, compared to approximately $25.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The decrease for the nine-month period
was primarily due to a decrease in expenses related to our ACCORDANCE study. This decrease was offset by an increase in expenses related to the scale up
activities for the commercial scale production capabilities for AP-CD/LD at LTS and a decrease in expenses related to our open label extension study.
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We expect to continue to incur research and development expenses as we wind down the ACCORDANCE study [and its open-label extension study] and
as we further advance the development of our other programs, subject to the availability of additional funding. However, due to the conclusion of the
ACCORDANCE study [and its open-label extension], we expect our overall research and development expense to decrease substantially. To the extent our
discussions with a potential partner result in a path toward further development of AP-CD/LD, our expenses, cash needs and operating losses may further increase.
General and Administrative Expenses
Our general and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2019 amounted to approximately $2.2 million, an increase of
approximately $500,000, or 29%, compared to approximately $1.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018. Our general and administrative
expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 amounted to approximately $6.5 million, an increase of approximately $700,000, or 12%, compared to
approximately $5.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The increase for the three and nine-month periods was primarily related to the increase
in payroll and related expenses mainly due to salary raises and increase in insurance expenses. This increase was offset by a decrease in professional services.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, we recorded an impairment charge of approximately $9.8 million of our Production Line and
Equipment, net, from the liability described in note 4b(2) to the condensed consolidated financial statements, together "AP-CD/LD Assets, net", which represents
the excess carrying value compared to the fair value of the AP-CD/LD Assets, net. For more information, see note 4b(3) in our condensed consolidated financial
statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2019.
Operating Loss
As a result of the foregoing, for the three months ended September 30, 2019 our operating loss was approximately $20.4 million, an increase of
approximately $10.9 million or 115%, compared to our operating loss for the three months ended September 30, 2018 of approximately $9.5 million. For the nine
months ended September 30, 2019 our operating loss was approximately $41.1 million, an increase of approximately $10.2 million, or 33%, compared to our
operating loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 of approximately $30.9 million. The changes in the three and nine-month periods were mainly due to
the impairment of our long-lived assets, changes in research and development expenses and general and administrative expenses, as detailed above.
Financial Income (expenses), Net
For the three months ended September 30, 2019, we had financial income from interest on cash and cash equivalents in the amount of approximately
$44,000 offset by financial expenses from foreign currency exchange expenses in the amount of approximately $28,000 and bank fees. For the three months ended
September 30, 2018, we had financial income from interest on cash equivalents in the amount of approximately $254,000 and financial income from change in fair
value of marketable securities in the amount of approximately $13,000 offset by financial expenses from foreign currency exchange expenses in the amount of
approximately $99,000, and bank fees.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2019, we had financial income from interest on cash and cash equivalents in the amount of approximately
$326,000 offset by financial expenses from foreign currency exchange expenses in the amount of approximately $156,000 and bank fees. For the nine months
ended September 30, 2018, we had financial expenses from foreign currency exchange expenses in the amount of approximately $488,000, financial expenses
from change in fair value of marketable securities in the amount of approximately $141,000 and bank fees offset by financial income from interest on cash
equivalents in the amount of approximately $641,000.
Income tax
For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, we have not generated taxable income in Israel. However, for the three months ended
September 30, 2019 we incurred tax expenses in our U.S. subsidiary in the amount of $28,000 and for the three months ended September 30, 2018 we incurred tax
income in our U.S. subsidiary in the amount of $164,000. For the nine months ended September 30, 2019 and 2018, we incurred tax expenses in our U.S.
subsidiary in the amount of $100,000 and $46,000, respectively.
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Net Loss
Based on the foregoing, for the three months ended September 30, 2019 our net loss was approximately $20.4 million, an increase of approximately $11.2
million, or 122%, compared to net loss for the three months ended September 30, 2018 of approximately $9.2 million while for the nine months ended September
30, 2019 our net loss was approximately $41.0 million, an increase of approximately $10.1 million, or 33%, compared to our net loss for the nine months ended
September 30, 2018 of approximately $30.9 million.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since our inception, we have funded our operations primarily through public and private offerings (in Israel and in the U.S.) of our equity securities,
grants from the IIA and other grants from organizations such as the Michael J. Fox Foundation, and payments received under the feasibility and related agreements
we have entered into with multinational pharmaceutical companies, pursuant to which we are entitled to full coverage of our development costs with regard to the
projects specified in those agreements.
As of September 30, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of approximately $15.7 million. As of December 31, 2018, we had
cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of approximately $40.6 million.
Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $23.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 compared with net cash used in
operating activities of approximately $30.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. This decrease resulted from changes in operating assets and
liabilities items of approximately $6.5 million and a decrease in the net loss for the period in the amount of $500,000.
We had negative cash flow from investing activities of approximately $2.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 compared to negative
cash flow from investing activities of approximately $5.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. This decrease resulted from a decrease in
purchase of property and equipment in the amount of approximately $1.8 million, an increase in proceeds from the disposal of marketable securities in the amount
of approximately $576,000 and a decrease of approximately $135,000 in investment in other assets related to the establishment of the commercial scale production
capabilities for AP-CD/LD at LTS.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was approximately $2.2 million, which was provided by funds
received from the sale of our ordinary shares under our “at-the-market” equity offering program and proceeds from the exercise of options by employees. Net cash
provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was approximately $35.0 million which was mainly provided by funds received
from our April 2018 public offering of ordinary shares.
Current Outlook
In July 2019, we announced that our Phase III clinical trial for AP-CD/LD did not meet its target endpoints. We have completed most of the analysis of
the full data set and we are currently seeking to partner AP-CD/LD as the basis for the strategy for AP-CD/LD moving forward. There is no assurance that we will
be successful in entering into a transaction with a partner or that if entered into any such transaction will be on terms favorable to us. We expect that our ongoing
activities will result in continuing operating losses for the foreseeable future. We believe that we have adequate cash to fund our ongoing activities into the second
quarter of 2020. Our ability to execute our operating plan beyond the second quarter of 2020 is dependent on our ability to obtain additional capital principally
through entering into a collaborations, strategic alliances, or license agreements with a third party and/or raising capital from the public and/or private investors
and/or institutional investors. The negative outcome of the Phase III clinical trial that was announced on July 22, 2019 and uncertainty regarding our development
programs is expected to adversely affect our ability to obtain funding and there is no assurance that we will be successful in obtaining the level of financing needed
for our activities. We have taken measures to reduce our costs, including reducing headcount, and are continuingly evaluating additional measures to reduce costs
to preserve existing capital. If we are unsuccessful in securing sufficient financing, we may need to scale back our administrative and clinical development
activities and may be required to cease our operations entirely. As a result, there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. For more
information, see note 1a(2) in our condensed consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2019.
On March 1, 2019, we entered into a Sales Agreement with Cowen and Company, LLC (“Cowen”), pursuant to which we may sell from time to time, at
our option, up to $75.0 million of our ordinary shares through an “at-the-market” equity offering program under which Cowen will act as sales agent. The issuance
and sale of ordinary shares by us under the program will be made pursuant to our effective “shelf” registration statement on Form S-3 (Registration Statement No.
333-230016) filed with the SEC on March 1, 2019, and declared effective on March 28, 2019. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, we sold an
aggregate of 1,716,679 of ordinary shares at an average price of $1.21 per ordinary share for net proceeds of approximately $2.0 million under the offering
program.
Developing drugs, conducting clinical trials, obtaining commercial manufacturing capabilities and commercializing products is expensive and we will
need to raise substantial additional funds to achieve our strategic objectives. We will require significant additional financing in the future to fund our operations,
including if and when we progress into additional clinical trials of our product candidates, obtain regulatory approval for one or more of our product candidates,
obtain commercial manufacturing capabilities and commercialize one or more of our product candidates. Our future capital requirements will depend on many
factors, including, but not limited to:
●

the progress and costs of our clinical trials and other research and development activities;

●

the scope, prioritization and number of our clinical trials and other research and development programs;
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●

the amount of revenues and contributions we receive under future licensing, collaboration, development and commercialization arrangements with
respect to our product candidates;

●

the costs of the development and expansion of our operational infrastructure;

●

the costs and timing of obtaining regulatory approval for one or more of our product candidates;

●

the ability of us, or our collaborators, to achieve development milestones, marketing approval and other events or developments under our potential
future licensing agreements;

●

the costs of filing, prosecuting, enforcing and defending patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

●

the costs and timing of securing manufacturing arrangements for clinical or commercial production;

●

the costs of contracting with third parties to provide sales and marketing capabilities for us or establishing such capabilities ourselves;

●

the costs of acquiring or undertaking development and commercialization efforts for any future products, product candidates or technology;

●

the magnitude of our general and administrative expenses; and

●

any cost that we may incur under future in- and out-licensing arrangements relating to one or more of our product candidates.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have had or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in
financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to investors.
Critical Accounting Policies
This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates that affect the reported amounts
of our assets, liabilities and expenses. Significant accounting policies employed by us, including the use of estimates, are presented in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report. We periodically evaluate our estimates, which are based on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Critical accounting policies are those that are most important to the portrayal of our
financial condition and results of operations and require our subjective or complex judgments, resulting in the need to make estimates about the effect of matters
that are inherently uncertain. If actual performance should differ from historical experience or if the underlying assumptions were to change, our financial
condition and results of operations may be materially impacted.
Our critical accounting policies and estimates are disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018. With the
exception of the change for the accounting of leases as a result of the adoption of ASC Topic 842 on January 1, 2019 and the evaluation of long-lived assets for
impairment, as further described below, which requires the use of estimates and judgment, there have been no material changes to those policies during the nine
months ended September 30, 2019.
Long-Lived Assets
We evaluate our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not
be recoverable. Estimates of future cash flows and timing of events for evaluating long-lived assets for impairment are based upon management’s assumptions and
market conditions. If any of our long-lived assets are considered to be impaired, the amount of impairment to be recognized is the excess of the carrying amount of
the assets over its fair value.
As of September 30, 2019, we incurred an asset impairment of approximately $9.8 million as a result of the top-line results from our pivotal Phase III
clinical for AP-CD/LD for the treatment of advanced Parkinson’s which did not meet its target endpoints. The impairment charge was the result of both internal
and external factors and the fair value was determined using the discounted cash flow method (level 3) which utilized significant estimates and assumptions
surrounding the amount and timing of the projected net cash flows, which includes the probability of out-licensing the AP-CD/LD program to a third-party, the
probability of obtaining FDA approval, the expected impact of competition, the discount rate, which seeks to reflect the various risks inherent in the projected cash
flows and the tax rate.
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We believe the assumptions used in our impairment assessment are reasonable, any changes in the actual market conditions versus the assumptions used in
the model could result in a change in estimated future cash flows, which may result in an additional impairment charge on AP-CD/LD Assets, net, in the future.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, to the condensed consolidated financial statements included in “Item 1- Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Not required for smaller reporting companies.

Item 4. Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the
reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms,
and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized
that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and
in reaching a reasonable level of assurance, management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we have
evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of September 30,
2019. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that as of September 30, 2019 these disclosure
controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d15(d) under the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2019 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings, which arise in the ordinary course of business. Litigation is
subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that may harm our business. There are currently no
pending material legal proceedings, and we are currently not aware of any legal proceedings or claims against us or our property that we believe will have any
significant effect on our business, financial position or operating results. None of our officers or directors is a party against us in any legal proceeding.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Not required for smaller reporting companies.
Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
None.

Item 3.

Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.

Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

Item 5.

Other Information
None.

Item 6.

Exhibits

Exhibit No.

Exhibit Description

3.1

Articles of Association of Intec Pharma Ltd., as amended (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.4 of the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2019)

10.1*

Sales Agreement between Intec Pharma Ltd. and Cowen and Company, LLC dated March 1, 2019

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended

32.1#

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

32.2#

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

101.INS*

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE*

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*
#

Filed herewith
Furnished herewith
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Intec Pharma Ltd.
Date: November 12, 2019

By:

/s/ Jeffrey A. Meckler
Jeffrey A. Meckler
Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:

/s/ Nir Sassi
Nir Sassi
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: November 12, 2019
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Exhibit 10.1
INTEC PHARMA LTD.
$75,000,000
ORDINARY SHARES
SALES AGREEMENT
February 28, 2019

Cowen and Company, LLC
599 Lexington Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Ladies and Gentlemen:
Intec Pharma Ltd., a company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Israel, public company number 513022780 (the “Company”),
confirms its agreement (this “Agreement”) with Cowen and Company, LLC (“Cowen”), as follows:
1.
Issuance and Sale of Shares. The Company agrees that, from time to time during the term of this Agreement, on the terms and subject to the
conditions set forth herein, it may issue and sell through Cowen, acting as agent and/or principal, shares (the “Placement Shares”) of the Company’s ordinary
shares, no par value per share (the “Ordinary Shares”), having an aggregate offering price of up to $75,000,000. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, the parties hereto agree that compliance with the limitation set forth in this Section 1 on the number of Ordinary Shares issued and sold under
this Agreement shall be the sole responsibility of the Company, and Cowen shall have no obligation in connection with such compliance. The issuance and sale of
Ordinary Shares through Cowen will be effected pursuant to the Registration Statement (as defined below) filed by the Company and declared effective by the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”), although nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as requiring the Company to use the
Registration Statement (as defined below) to issue the Placement Shares.
The Company has filed or will file, in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder
(collectively, the “Securities Act”), with the Commission a registration statement on Form S-3, including a base prospectus, relating to certain securities, including
the Ordinary Shares, to be issued from time to time by the Company, and which incorporates by reference documents that the Company has filed or will file in
accordance with the provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder (collectively, the “ Exchange Act”).
The Company has prepared a prospectus supplement specifically relating to the Placement Shares (the “Prospectus Supplement”) to the base prospectus included
as part of such registration statement. The Company has furnished to Cowen, for use by Cowen, copies of the base prospectus included as part of such registration
statement, as supplemented by the Prospectus Supplement, relating to the Placement Shares. Except where the context otherwise requires, such registration
statement, as amended when it became effective, including all documents filed as part thereof or incorporated by reference therein, and including any information
contained in a Prospectus (as defined below) subsequently filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act or deemed to be a part of
such registration statement pursuant to Rule 430B or 462(b) of the Securities Act, is herein called the “Registration Statement.” The base prospectus, including all
documents incorporated therein by reference, included in the Registration Statement, as it may be supplemented by the Prospectus Supplement, in the form in
which such base prospectus and/or Prospectus Supplement have most recently been filed by the Company with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the
Securities Act, together with any “issuer free writing prospectus,” as defined in Rule 433 of the Securities Act regulations (“ Rule 433”), relating to the Placement
Shares that (i) is required to be filed with the Commission by the Company or (ii) is exempt from filing pursuant to Rule 433(d)(5)(i), in each case in the form
filed or required to be filed with the Commission or, if not required to be filed, in the form retained in the Company’s records pursuant to Rule 433(g), is herein
called the “Prospectus.” Any reference herein to the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto shall be deemed to refer to
and include the documents incorporated by reference therein, and any reference herein to the terms “amend,” “amendment” or “supplement” with respect to the
Registration Statement or the Prospectus shall be deemed to refer to and include the filing after the execution hereof of any document with the Commission
deemed to be incorporated by reference therein. For purposes of this Agreement, all references to the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or to any amendment
or supplement thereto shall be deemed to include any copy filed with the Commission pursuant to the Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system
(“EDGAR”).
-1-

2.
Placements. Each time that the Company wishes to issue and sell any Placement Shares hereunder (each, a “Placement”), it will notify Cowen
by email notice (or other method mutually agreed to in writing by the parties) (a “Placement Notice”) containing the parameters in accordance with which it
desires the Placement Shares to be sold, which shall at a minimum include the number or dollar amount of Placement Shares to be issued, the time period during
which sales are requested to be made, any limitation on the number of Placement Shares that may be sold in any one Trading Day (as defined in Section 3) and any
minimum price below which sales may not be made, a form of which containing such minimum sales parameters necessary is attached hereto as Schedule 1. The
Placement Notice shall originate from any of the individuals from the Company set forth on Schedule 2 (with a copy to each of the other individuals from the
Company listed on such schedule), and shall be addressed to each of the individuals from Cowen set forth on Schedule 2, as such Schedule 2 may be amended
from time to time. The Placement Notice shall be effective upon receipt by Cowen unless and until (i) in accordance with the notice requirements set forth in
Section 4, Cowen declines to accept the terms contained therein for any reason, in its sole discretion, (ii) the entire amount of the Placement Shares thereunder have
been sold, (iii) in accordance with the notice requirements set forth in Section 4, the Company suspends or terminates the Placement Notice, in its sole discretion,
(iv) the Company issues a subsequent Placement Notice, in its sole discretion, with parameters superseding those on the earlier dated Placement Notice, or (v) this
Agreement has been terminated under the provisions of Section 11. The amount of any discount, commission or other compensation to be paid by the Company to
Cowen in connection with the sale of the Placement Shares shall be calculated in accordance with the terms set forth in Schedule 3. It is expressly acknowledged
and agreed that neither the Company nor Cowen will have any obligation whatsoever with respect to a Placement or any Placement Shares unless and until the
Company delivers a Placement Notice to Cowen and Cowen does not decline such Placement Notice pursuant to the terms set forth above, and then only upon the
terms specified therein and herein. In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of a Placement Notice, the terms of the Placement
Notice will control.
3.
Sale of Placement Shares by Cowen. Subject to the terms and conditions herein set forth, upon the Company’s delivery of a Placement Notice,
and unless the sale of the Placement Shares described therein has been declined, suspended, or otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement, Cowen, for the period specified in the Placement Notice, will use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales
practices and applicable state and federal laws, rules and regulations and the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (“Nasdaq”) to sell such Placement Shares up to
the amount specified, and otherwise in accordance with the terms of such Placement Notice. Cowen will provide written confirmation to the Company (including
by email correspondence to each of the individuals of the Company set forth on Schedule 2, if receipt of such correspondence is actually acknowledged by any of
the individuals to whom the notice is sent, other than via auto-reply) no later than the opening of the Trading Day (as defined below) immediately following the
Trading Day on which it has made sales of Placement Shares hereunder setting forth the number of Placement Shares sold on such day, the volume-weighted
average price of the Placement Shares sold, and the Net Proceeds (as defined below) payable to the Company. Subject to the terms of the Placement Notice, Cowen
may sell Placement Shares by any method permitted by law deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) of the Securities Act, including
without limitation sales made through Nasdaq or on any other existing trading market for the Ordinary Shares. Cowen shall not purchase Placement Shares for its
own account as principal unless expressly authorized to do so by the Company in a Placement Notice and permitted by applicable law. The Company
acknowledges and agrees that (i) there can be no assurance that Cowen will be successful in selling Placement Shares, and (ii) Cowen will incur no liability or
obligation to the Company or any other person or entity if it does not sell Placement Shares for any reason other than a failure by Cowen to use its commercially
reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices to sell such Placement Shares as required under this Section 3. For the purposes hereof,
“Trading Day” means any day on which the Company’s Ordinary Shares are purchased and sold on the principal market on which the Ordinary Shares are listed
or quoted.
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4.

Suspension of Sales.

(a)
The Company or Cowen may, upon notice to the other party in writing (including by email correspondence to each of the individuals of the other
party set forth on Schedule 2, if receipt of such correspondence is actually acknowledged by any of the individuals to whom the notice is sent, other than via autoreply) or by telephone (confirmed immediately by verifiable facsimile transmission or email correspondence to each of the individuals of the other party set forth
on Schedule 2), suspend any sale of Placement Shares; provided, however, that such suspension shall not affect or impair either party’s obligations with respect to
any Placement Shares sold hereunder prior to the receipt of such notice. While a suspension is in effect any obligation under Section 7(m), 7(n) and 7(o) with
respect to delivery of certificates, opinion, or comfort letters to Cowen, shall be waived. Each of the parties agrees that no such notice under this Section 4 shall be
effective against the other unless it is made to one of the individuals named on Schedule 2 hereto, as such schedule may be amended from time to time.
(b)
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, during any period in which the Company is in possession of material non-public
information, the Company and Cowen agree that (i) no sale of Placement Shares will take place, (ii) the Company shall not request the sale of any Placement
Shares, and (iii) Cowen shall not be obligated to sell or offer to sell any Placement Shares.
(c)
If either Cowen or the Company has reason to believe that the exemptive provisions set forth in Rule 101(c)(1) of Regulation M under the
Exchange Act are not satisfied with respect to the Ordinary Shares, it shall promptly notify the other party, and Cowen may, at its sole discretion, suspend sales of
the Placement Shares under this Agreement.
(d)
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, during any period in which the Registration Statement is no longer effective under the
Securities Act, the Company shall promptly notify Cowen, the Company shall not request the sale of any Placement Shares, and Cowen shall not be obligated to
sell or offer to sell any Placement Shares.
5.

Settlement.

(a) Settlement of Placement Shares. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Placement Notice, settlement for sales of Placement Shares will occur on
the second (2nd) Trading Day (or such earlier day as is industry practice for regular-way trading) following the date on which such sales are made (each, a
“Settlement Date” and the first such settlement date, the “First Delivery Date”). The amount of proceeds to be delivered to the Company on a Settlement Date
against receipt of the Placement Shares sold (the “Net Proceeds”) will be equal to the aggregate sales price received by Cowen at which such Placement Shares
were sold, after deduction for (i) Cowen’s commission, discount or other compensation for such sales payable by the Company pursuant to Section 2 hereof, (ii)
any other amounts due and payable by the Company to Cowen hereunder pursuant to Section 7(g) (Expenses) hereof, and (iii) any transaction fees imposed by any
governmental or self-regulatory organization in respect of such sales.
(b) Delivery of Placement Shares. On or before each Settlement Date, the Company will, or will cause its transfer agent to, electronically transfer the
Placement Shares being sold by crediting Cowen’s or its designee’s account (provided Cowen shall have given the Company written notice of such designee prior
to the Settlement Date) at The Depository Trust Company through its Deposit and Withdrawal at Custodian System or by such other means of delivery as may be
mutually agreed upon by the parties hereto which in all cases shall be freely tradeable, transferable, registered shares in good deliverable form. On each Settlement
Date, Cowen will deliver the related Net Proceeds in same day funds to an account designated by the Company on, or prior to, the Settlement Date. The Company
agrees that if the Company, or its transfer agent (if applicable), defaults in its obligation to deliver duly authorized Placement Shares on a Settlement Date through
no fault of Cowen, the Company agrees that in addition to and in no way limiting the rights and obligations set forth in Section 9(a) (Indemnification and
Contribution) hereto, it will (i) hold Cowen harmless against any loss, claim, damage, or reasonable documented expense (including reasonable legal fees and
expenses), as incurred, arising out of or in connection with such default by the Company and (ii) pay to Cowen, without duplication, any commission, discount, or
other compensation to which it would otherwise have been entitled absent such default.
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6.
Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants to, and agrees with, Cowen that, unless such
representation or warranty specifies a different time, as of the date of this Agreement, each Representation Date (as defined in Section 7(m)), each date on which a
Placement Notice is given, and any date on which Placement Shares are sold hereunder:
(a) Compliance with Registration Requirements. The Registration Statement and any Rule 462(b) Registration Statement have been declared effective by
the Commission under the Securities Act. The Company has complied to the Commission’s satisfaction with all requests of the Commission for additional or
supplemental information. No stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or any Rule 462(b) Registration Statement is in effect and no
proceedings for such purpose have been instituted or are pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, contemplated or threatened by the Commission. The
Company meets the requirements for use of Form S-3 under the Securities Act. The sale of the Placement Shares hereunder meets the requirements of General
Instruction I.B.1 of Form S-3.
(b) No Misstatement or Omission. The Prospectus when filed complied and, as amended or supplemented, if applicable, will comply in all material
respects with the Securities Act. Each of the Registration Statement, any Rule 462(b) Registration Statement, the Prospectus and any post-effective amendments or
supplements thereto, at the time it became effective or its date, as applicable, complied and as of each of the Settlement Dates, if any, complied in all material
respects with the Securities Act and did not and, as of each Settlement Date, if any, did not and will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. The Prospectus, as amended or supplemented, as of its
date, did not and, as of each of the Settlement Dates, if any, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in
order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The representations and warranties set forth in
the two immediately preceding sentences do not apply to statements in or omissions from the Registration Statement, any Rule 462(b) Registration Statement, or
any post-effective amendment thereto, or the Prospectus, or any amendments or supplements thereto, made in reliance upon and in conformity with information
relating to Cowen furnished to the Company in writing by Cowen expressly for use therein. There are no contracts or other documents required to be described in
the Prospectus or to be filed as exhibits to the Registration Statement which have not been described or filed as required.
(c) Offering Materials Furnished to Cowen. The Company has delivered or made available to Cowen one complete copy of the Registration Statement
and a copy of each consent and certificate of experts filed as a part thereof, and conformed copies of the Registration Statement (without exhibits) and the
Prospectus, as amended or supplemented, in such quantities and at such places as Cowen has reasonably requested.
(d) Emerging Growth Company. The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act (an “Emerging
Growth Company”).
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(e) Distribution of Offering Material By the Company. The Company has not distributed and will not distribute, prior to the completion of Cowen’s
distribution of the Placement Shares, any offering material in connection with the offering and sale of the Placement Shares other than the Prospectus or the
Registration Statement.
(f) The Sales Agreement. This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by, and is a valid and binding agreement of, the Company,
enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as rights to indemnification hereunder may be limited by applicable law and except as the enforcement hereof may
be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights and remedies of creditors or by general
equitable principles.
(g) Authorization of the Ordinary Shares. The Placement Shares will be duly authorized for issuance and sale pursuant to this Agreement and, when issued
and delivered by the Company against payment therefor pursuant to this Agreement, will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
(h) No Applicable Registration or Other Similar Rights. There are no persons with registration or other similar rights to have any equity or debt securities
registered for sale under the Registration Statement or included in the offering contemplated by this Agreement, except for such rights as have been duly waived.
(i) Preparation of the Financial Statements. The financial statements of the Company (including all notes and schedules thereto) included or incorporated
by reference in the Registration Statement and Prospectus present fairly in all material respects the financial position of the Company and its consolidated
subsidiaries as of and at the dates indicated and the statement of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries
for the periods specified; and such financial statements and related schedules and notes thereto, and the unaudited financial information filed with the Commission
or incorporated by reference as part of the Registration Statement, have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States (“U.S. GAAP”), consistently applied throughout the periods involved, otherwise as noted therein. The summary and selected financial data included or
incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and Prospectus present fairly in all material respects the information shown therein as at the respective
dates and for the respective periods specified and have been presented on a basis consistent with the consolidated financial statements set forth in the Registration
Statement and Prospectus. The pro forma financial statements and the related notes thereto included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and
the Prospectus present fairly in all material respects the information shown therein, have been prepared in accordance in all material respects with the
Commission’s rules and guidelines with respect to pro forma financial statements and have been properly compiled on the bases described therein, and the
assumptions used in the preparation thereof are reasonable and the adjustments used therein are appropriate to give effect to the transactions and circumstances
referred to therein. The interactive data in eXtensible Business Reporting Language included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement fairly
presents the information called for in all material respects and has been prepared in all material respects in accordance with the Commission’s rules and guidelines
applicable thereto.
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(j) Independent Accountants. Kesselman & Kesselman, Certified Public Accountant (Israel), a member firm of PricewaterhouseCoopers International
Limited (the “Auditor”), whose reports are filed with the Commission or incorporated by reference as a part of the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, are
and, during the periods covered by their reports, were independent public accountants as required by the Securities Act.
(k) Incorporation and Good Standing of the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Company and each of its subsidiaries, including each entity (corporation,
partnership, joint venture, association or other business organization) controlled directly or indirectly by the Company (each, a “subsidiary”), has been duly
organized and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing (where such concept is recognized in the relevant jurisdiction) under the laws of its jurisdiction
of incorporation or formation. The Company has the power and authority (corporate or otherwise) to carry on its business as is currently being conducted and as
described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and to own, lease and operate its properties. All of the issued shares of capital stock of, or other
ownership interests in, each subsidiary have been duly and validly authorized and issued and are fully paid and non-assessable and are owned, directly or
indirectly, by the Company, free and clear of any lien, charge, mortgage, pledge, security interest, claim, limitation on voting rights, equity, trust or other
encumbrance, preferential arrangement, defect or restriction of any kind whatsoever. The Company and each of its subsidiaries is duly qualified to do business and
is in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it or location of the assets or properties owned,
leased or licensed by it requires such qualification, except for such jurisdictions where the failure to so qualify individually or in the aggregate would not have a
material adverse effect on the assets, properties, condition, financial or otherwise, or in the results of operations, business affairs or business prospects of the
Company and its subsidiaries considered as a whole (a “Material Adverse Effect”); and to the Company’s knowledge, no proceeding has been instituted in any
such jurisdiction revoking, limiting or curtailing, or seeking to revoke, limit or curtail, such power and authority or qualification. To the extent the Company has
only one subsidiary, references to “subsidiaries” herein shall mean “subsidiary”.
(l) Ineligible Issuer. The Company currently is not an “ineligible issuer,” as defined in Rule 405 of the rules and regulations of the Commission. The
Company agrees to notify Cowen promptly upon the Company becoming an “ineligible issuer.”
(m) Intellectual Property.[1] The Company and its subsidiaries own or possess the valid right to use all (i) patents, patent applications, trademarks,
trademark registrations, service marks, service mark registrations, Internet domain name registrations, copyrights, copyright registrations, licenses, trade secret
rights (“Intellectual Property Rights”) and (ii) inventions, software, works of authorships, trademarks, service marks, trade names, databases, formulae, know
how, Internet domain names and other intellectual property (including trade secrets and other unpatented and/or unpatentable proprietary confidential information,
systems, or procedures) (collectively, "Intellectual Property Assets") necessary to conduct their respective businesses as currently conducted, and as proposed to
be conducted and described in the Prospectus. The Company and its subsidiaries have not received any opinion from their legal counsel concluding that any
activities of their respective businesses infringe, misappropriate, or otherwise violate, valid and enforceable Intellectual Property Rights of any other person, and
have not received written notice of any challenge, which is to their knowledge still pending, by any other person to the rights of the Company and its subsidiaries
with respect to any Intellectual Property Rights or Intellectual Property Assets owned or used by the Company or its subsidiaries. To the knowledge of the
Company, the Company and its subsidiaries’ respective businesses as now conducted do not give rise to any infringement of, any misappropriation of, or other
violation of, any valid and enforceable Intellectual Property Rights of any other person. All licenses for the use of the Intellectual Property Rights described in the
Prospectus are valid, binding upon, and enforceable by or against the parties thereto in accordance to its terms. The Company has complied in all material respects
with, and is not in breach nor has received any asserted or threatened claim of breach of any Intellectual Property license, and the Company has no knowledge of
any breach or anticipated breach by any other person to any Intellectual Property license. Except as described in the Prospectus, no claim has been made against
the Company alleging the infringement by the Company of any patent, trademark, service mark, trade name, copyright, trade secret, license in or other intellectual
property right or franchise right of any person. The Company has taken all reasonable steps to protect, maintain and safeguard in all material respects its
Intellectual Property Rights, including the execution of appropriate nondisclosure and confidentiality agreements. The consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement will not result in the loss or impairment of or payment of any additional amounts with respect to, nor require the consent of any
other person in respect of, the Company's right to own, use, or hold for use any of the Intellectual Property Rights as owned, used or held for use in the conduct of
the business as currently conducted.
[1] Note to MWE: Please contact Cooley IP to discuss materiality qualifiers in this Section.
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(n) Consents and Permits. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and except with respect to the consent of the Israeli
Innovation Authority (“IIA”) to be obtained in connection with the offering of the Placement Shares and the required filings with the Israeli Registrar of
Companies, the Company and its Subsidiaries have made all filings, applications and submissions required by, possesses and is operating in compliance with, all
approvals, licenses, certificates, certifications, clearances, consents, grants, exemptions, marks, notifications, orders, permits and other authorizations issued by, the
appropriate federal, state or foreign Governmental Authority (as defined in Section 21(b)) (including, without limitation, the United States Food and Drug
Administration (the “FDA”), the United States Drug Enforcement Administration or any other foreign, federal, state, provincial, court or local government or
regulatory authorities including self-regulatory organizations engaged in the regulation of clinical trials, pharmaceuticals, biologics or biohazardous substances or
materials) necessary for the ownership or lease of their respective properties or to conduct its businesses as described in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus (collectively, “ Permits”), except for such Permits the failure of which to possess, obtain or make the same would not have a Material Adverse Effect;
the Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with the terms and conditions of all such Permits, except where the failure to be in compliance would not have
a Material Adverse Effect; all of the Permits are valid and in full force and effect, except where any invalidity, individually or in the aggregate, would not be
reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; and neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice relating to the
limitation, revocation, cancellation, suspension, modification or non-renewal of any such Permit which, singly or in the aggregate, if the subject of an unfavorable
decision, ruling or finding, would have a Material Adverse Effect, or has any reason to believe that any such license, certificate, permit or authorization will not be
renewed in the ordinary course. To the extent required by applicable laws and regulations of the FDA, the Company or the applicable Subsidiary has submitted to
the FDA an Investigational New Drug Application or amendment or supplement thereto for each clinical trial it has conducted or sponsored or is conducting or
sponsoring; all such submissions were in material compliance with applicable laws and rules and regulations when submitted and no material deficiencies have
been asserted by the FDA with respect to any such submissions.
(o) Regulatory Filings. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and except with respect to the consent of the IIA to be
obtained in connection with the offering of the Placement Shares, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has failed to file with the applicable
Governmental Authorities (including, without limitation, the FDA, or any foreign, federal, state, provincial or local Governmental Authority performing functions
similar to those performed by the FDA) any required filing, declaration, listing, registration, report or submission, except for such failures that, individually or in
the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect; except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, all such filings, declarations,
listings, registrations, reports or submissions were in compliance with applicable laws when filed and no deficiencies have been asserted by any applicable
regulatory authority with respect to any such filings, declarations, listings, registrations, reports or submissions, except for any deficiencies that, individually or in
the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company has operated and currently is, in all material respects, in compliance with the United States
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, all applicable rules and regulations of the FDA and other federal, state, local and foreign Governmental Authority
exercising comparable authority. The Company has no knowledge of any studies, tests or trials not described in the Prospectus the results of which reasonably call
into question in any material respect the results of the studies, tests and trials described in the Prospectus.
-7-

(p) Clinical Studies. The preclinical studies and tests and clinical trials described in the Prospectus were, and, if still pending, are being conducted in all
material respects in accordance with the experimental protocols, procedures and controls pursuant to, where applicable, accepted professional and scientific
standards for products or product candidates comparable to those being developed by the Company; the descriptions of such studies, tests and trials, and the results
thereof, contained in the Prospectus are accurate and complete in all material respects; the Company is not aware of any tests, studies or trials not described in the
Prospectus, the results of which reasonably call into question the results of the tests, studies and trials described in the Prospectus; and the Company has not
received any written notice or correspondence from the FDA or any foreign, state or local Governmental Authority exercising comparable authority or any
institutional review board or comparable authority requiring the termination, suspension, clinical hold or material modification of any tests, studies or trials.
(q) Real Property. The Company and each of its subsidiaries has good and marketable title in fee simple to all real property, and good and marketable title
to all other property owned by it, in each case free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, claims, security interests and defects, except such as would not reasonably
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. All property held under lease by the Company and its subsidiaries is held by it under valid, existing and enforceable
leases, free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, claims, security interests and defects, except such as would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect.
(r) No Material Adverse Change. Subsequent to the respective dates as of which information is given in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, (i)
there has not been any event which could have a Material Adverse Effect; (ii) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has sustained any loss or
interference with its assets, businesses or properties (whether owned or leased) from fire, explosion, earthquake, flood or other calamity, whether or not covered by
insurance, or from any labor dispute or any court or legislative or other governmental action, order or decree which would have a Material Adverse Effect; and
(iii) since the date of the latest balance sheet included in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has (A) issued any securities or incurred any liability or obligation, direct or contingent, for borrowed
money, except such liabilities or obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business, (B) entered into any transaction not in the ordinary course of business or
(C) declared or paid any dividend or made any distribution on any shares of its stock or redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired or agreed to redeem, purchase
or otherwise acquire any shares of its capital stock.
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(s) No Defaults. There is no document, contract or other agreement required to be described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or to be filed
as an exhibit to the Registration Statement which is not described or filed as required by the Securities Act. Each description of a contract, document or other
agreement in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus accurately reflects in all material respects the terms of the underlying contract, document or other
agreement. Each contract, document or other agreement described in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or listed in the exhibits to the Registration
Statement or incorporated by reference is in full force and effect and is valid and enforceable by and against the Company or any subsidiary, as the case may be, in
accordance with its terms, except as enforceability thereof may be limited by (i) the application of bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency and other laws affecting
creditors’ rights generally, (ii) equitable principles being applied at the discretion of a court before which any proceeding may be brought, (iii) an implied covenant
of good faith and fair dealing, (iv) the effects of the possible judicial application of foreign laws or foreign governmental or judicial action affecting creditors’
rights, (v) consideration of public policy, and (vi) by federal or state securities laws with respect to the provisions regarding indemnity and contribution thereunder.
Neither the Company, any of its subsidiaries, nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any other party, is in default in the observance or performance of any term or
obligation to be performed by it under any such agreement, and no event has occurred which with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute such a default, in
any such case which default or event, individually or in the aggregate, would have a Material Adverse Effect. No default exists, and no event has occurred which
with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute a default, in the due performance and observance of any term, covenant or condition, by the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, of any other agreement or instrument to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or its properties or
business or a subsidiary or its properties or business may be bound or affected which default or event, individually or in the aggregate, would have a Material
Adverse Effect.
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(t) Statistical and Market Related Data.
The statistical and market related data included in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus are based on or
derived from sources that the Company believes to be reliable and accurate.
(u) No Defaults or Violations. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries (i) is in violation of its certificate or articles of incorporation, articles of
association, by-laws, certificate of formation, limited liability company agreement, partnership agreement or other organizational documents, (ii) is in default
under, and no event has occurred which, with notice or lapse of time, or both, would constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of any lien,
charge, mortgage, pledge, security interest, claim, limitation on voting rights, equity, trust or other encumbrance, preferential arrangement, defect or restriction of
any kind whatsoever, upon, any property or assets of the Company or any of its subsidiaries pursuant to any bond, debenture, note, indenture, mortgage, deed of
trust, loan agreement or other agreement or instrument to which it is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its properties or assets are subject, including
(A) any instrument of approval granted to any of them by the Israel Innovation Authority (formerly the Office of the Chief Scientist) of the Israeli Ministry of
Economy and Industry and (B) any instrument of approval granted to any of them by the Authority for Investment and Development of Industry and the Economy
(formerly known as the Investment Center) of the Israeli Ministry of Economy and Industry, and (iii) is in violation of any statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance,
directive, judgment, decree or order of any judicial, regulatory or other legal or governmental agency or body, foreign or domestic, except (in the case of clauses
(ii) and (iii) above) for violations or defaults that could not (individually or in the aggregate) reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(v) Non-Contravention. Neither the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company nor the consummation of any of the
transactions contemplated hereby (including, without limitation, the issuance and sale by the Company of the Placement Shares) will give rise to a right to
terminate or accelerate the due date of any payment due under, or conflict with or result in the breach of any term or provision of, or constitute a default (or an
event which with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute a default) under, or require any consent or waiver under, or result in the execution or imposition
of any lien, charge or encumbrance upon any properties or assets of the Company or its subsidiaries pursuant to the terms of any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust
or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of their
properties or businesses is bound, or any franchise, license, permit, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule or regulation applicable to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or violate any provision of the articles of association, charter, by-laws or other organizational documents of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,
except (i) to the extent that such breach, violation, conflict, default, or failure to obtain consent is not reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect, and
(ii) for such consents or waivers which have already been obtained and are in full force and effect.
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(w) Capitalization. The Company has authorized and outstanding capital stock as set forth under the caption “Capitalization” in the Registration
Statement and the Prospectus. All of the issued and outstanding Ordinary Shares have been duly and validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable. There are
no statutory preemptive or other similar rights to subscribe for or to purchase or acquire any shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
such rights pursuant to its articles of association, charter, by-laws or other organizational documents or any agreement or instrument to or by which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries is a party or bound. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there is no outstanding option, warrant or other
right calling for the issuance of, and there is no commitment, plan or arrangement to issue, any shares of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any security
convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, such shares. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement or Prospectus, the exercise price of each option
to acquire Ordinary Shares (each, a “Company Stock Option”) is no less than the fair market value of an Ordinary Share as determined on the date of grant of
such Company Stock Option. All grants of Company Stock Options were validly issued and properly approved by the Board of Directors of the Company (and, if
required, by a committee of the Board of Directors of the Company, and the Company’s shareholders) in material compliance with all applicable laws and the
terms of the plans under which such Company Stock Options were issued and were recorded on the Company’s financial statements, in accordance with U.S.
GAAP and no such grants involved any “back dating,” “forward dating,” “spring loading” or similar practices with respect to the effective date of grant. The
Ordinary Shares and the Placement Shares conform in all material respects to all statements in relation thereto contained in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus.
(x) No Material Actions or Proceedings. There are no legal or governmental proceedings pending to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a
party or of which any property of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is the subject which would reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to
have a Material Adverse Effect; and, to the knowledge of the Company, no such proceedings are threatened or contemplated by Governmental Authorities or
threatened by others.
(y) Necessary Corporate Action. All necessary corporate action has been duly and validly taken by the Company to authorize the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and the issuance and sale of the Placement Shares by the Company.
(z) No Labor Disputes. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is involved in any labor dispute which reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect and, to the knowledge of the Company, no such dispute is threatened. The Company is not aware of any existing or imminent labor disturbance by
the employees of any of its principal suppliers or contractors which would have a Material Adverse Effect. The Company is not aware of any threatened or pending
litigation between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any of its executive officers which, if adversely determined, could have a Material Adverse Effect
and has no reason to believe that such officers will not remain in the employment of the Company.
(aa) Related Party Transactions. No transaction has occurred between or among the Company and any of its officers or directors, shareholders or any
affiliate or affiliates of any such officer or director or shareholder that is required to be described in and is not described in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus.
(bb) No Price Stabilization or Manipulation. The Company has not taken, nor will it take, directly or indirectly, any action designed to, or which might
reasonably be expected to cause or result in, or which has constituted or which might reasonably be expected to constitute, the stabilization or manipulation of the
price of the Ordinary Shares or any security of the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of any of the Placement Shares. The Company has not engaged in any
form of solicitation, advertising or other action constituting an offer or a sale under the Israeli Securities Law, 5728-1968, as amended, and the regulations
promulgated thereunder in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby which would require the publication of a prospectus in the State of Israel under
the laws of the State of Israel.
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(cc) Tax Law Compliance. The Company and each of its subsidiaries has filed all federal, state, local and foreign tax returns which are required to be
filed through the date hereof except in any case in which the failure to so file would not have a Material Adverse Effect, which returns are true and correct in all
material respects or has received timely extensions thereof, and has paid all taxes shown on such returns and all assessments received by it to the extent that the
same are material and have become due. To the Company’s knowledge, there are no tax audits or investigations pending, which if adversely determined would
have a Material Adverse Effect; nor, to the Company’s knowledge are there any material proposed additional tax assessments against the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.
(dd) Listing. Prior to the sale of any Placement Shares hereunder, the Placement Shares will be approved for listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market,
subject to each body’s final approval and the payment of listing fees. The Company has taken no action designed to, or likely to have the effect of, terminating the
registration of the Ordinary Shares under the Exchange Act or the quotation of the Ordinary Shares on the NASDAQ Capital Market, nor has the Company
received any notification that the Commission or the NASDAQ Capital Market is contemplating terminating such registration or quotation.
(ee) Company’s Accounting System . The books, records and accounts of the Company and each of its subsidiaries accurately and fairly reflect in all
material respects, the transactions in, and dispositions of, the assets of, and the results of operations of, the Company and each of its subsidiaries. The Company
and each of its subsidiaries maintains a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that (i) transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s general or specific authorizations, (ii) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with U.S. GAAP and to maintain asset accountability, (iii) access to assets is permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorization and (iv) the recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect
to any differences.
(ff) Disclosure Controls. The Company has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15 under
the Exchange Act) that (i) are designed to ensure that material information relating to the Company is made known to the Company’s principal executive officer
and its principal financial officer by others within the Company, particularly during the periods in which the periodic reports required under the Exchange Act are
required to be prepared; (ii) provide for the periodic evaluation of the effectiveness of such disclosure controls and procedures at the end of the periods in which the
periodic reports are required to be prepared; and (iii) are effective in all material respects to perform the functions for which they were established. Based on the
evaluation of its disclosure controls and procedures, the Company is not aware of (i) any material weakness or significant deficiency in the design or operation of
internal controls which could adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data or any material weaknesses in internal
controls; or (ii) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a role in the Company’s internal controls.
-12-

(gg) Prohibited Activities. Except as described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus and as preapproved in accordance with the requirements
set forth in Section 10A of the Exchange Act, the Auditor has not been engaged by the Company to perform any “prohibited activities” (as defined in Section 10A
of the Exchange Act).
(hh) Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. Except as described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, there are no material off-balance sheet
arrangements (as defined in Item 303 of Regulation S-K) that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on the Company’s financial
condition, revenues or expenses, changes in financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
(ii) Audit Committee. The Company’s Board of Directors has validly appointed an audit committee whose composition satisfies the requirements of Rule
5605 of the NASDAQ Stock Market and the Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999, and the Board of Directors and/or the audit committee has adopted a charter that
satisfies the requirements of Rule 5605 of the NASDAQ Stock Market. The audit committee has reviewed the adequacy of its charter within the past twelve
months.
(jj) Sarbanes-Oxley. The Company is in compliance with all applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the “Sarbanes-Oxley
Act”), any related rules and regulations promulgated by the Commission, and all corporate governance requirements under applicable NASDAQ regulations, and
has no reason to believe that it will not be able to comply with such provisions. There is and has been no failure on the part of the Company or any of its directors
or officers, in their capacities as such, to comply with any provision of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including, without limitation, Section 402 related to loans and
Sections 302 and 906 related to certifications.
(kk) Insurance. The Company and each of its subsidiaries are insured by insurers of recognized financial responsibility against such losses and risks and
in such amounts as are customary in the businesses in which it is engaged or proposes to engage after giving effect to the transactions described in the Prospectus;
all policies of insurance and fidelity or surety bonds insuring the Company or any of its subsidiaries or the Company’s or its subsidiaries’ respective business,
assets, employees, officers and directors are in full force and effect in all material respects; the Company and each of its subsidiaries is in compliance with the
terms of such policies and instruments in all material respects; and the Company has no reason to believe that it and its subsidiaries will not be able to renew its
existing insurance coverage as and when such coverage expires or to obtain similar coverage from similar insurers as may be necessary to continue its business at a
cost that is not materially greater than the current cost. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has been denied any insurance coverage which it has
sought or for which it has applied in any material respect.
(ll) Consents. Except for the consent of the IIA to be obtained in connection with the offering of the Placement Shares, each approval, consent, order,
authorization, designation, declaration or filing of, by or with any regulatory, administrative or other governmental body necessary in connection with the
execution and delivery by the Company of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions herein contemplated required to be obtained or performed by
the Company (except such additional steps as may be required by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) or as may be necessary to qualify the
Placement Shares for public offering by Cowen under the state securities or Blue Sky laws and the approval by the NASDAQ Capital Market for the listing of the
Placement Shares on the NASDAQ Capital Market) has been obtained or made and is in full force and effect.
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(mm) FINRA Matters. There are no associations or affiliations with any members of FINRA among the Company’s officers, directors or, to the
knowledge of the Company, any five percent or greater shareholder of the Company, except as set forth in the Registration Statement or otherwise disclosed in
writing to the Representative.
(nn) Transfer Taxes and Duties. No transaction, stamp or other issuance or transfer taxes or duties, and assuming that Cowen is not otherwise subject to
taxation in Israel due to Israeli tax residence or the existence of a permanent establishment in Israel, no capital gain, income, transfer, withholding or other tax or
duty is payable in the State of Israel by or on behalf of Cowen to any taxing authority thereof or therein in connection with (i) the issuance, sale and delivery of the
Placement Shares by the Company; (ii) the purchase from the Company, and the initial sale and delivery by Cowen of the Placement Shares to purchasers thereof;
(iii) the holding or transfer of the Placement Shares; (iv) the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any other document to be furnished hereunder; or (v) any
combination of the foregoing clauses (i) through (iv).
(oo) Compliance with Environmental Laws. Except as would not have a Material Adverse Effect, (i) the Company and each of its subsidiaries is in
compliance with all rules, laws and regulation relating to the use, treatment, storage and disposal of toxic substances and protection of health or the environment
(“Environmental Laws”) which are applicable to its business; (ii) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has received any notice from any
Governmental Authority or third party of an asserted claim under Environmental Laws; (iii) each of the Company and its subsidiaries has received all permits,
licenses or other approvals required of it under applicable Environmental Laws to conduct its business and is in compliance with all terms and conditions of any
such permit, license or approval; (iv) to the Company’s knowledge, no facts currently exist that will require the Company or any of its subsidiaries to make future
material capital expenditures to comply with Environmental Laws; and (v) no property which is or has been owned, leased or occupied by the Company or its
subsidiaries has been designated as a Superfund site pursuant to the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation of Liability Act of 1980, as amended
(42 U.S.C. Section 9601, et. seq.) or otherwise designated as a contaminated site under other applicable Environmental Laws. Neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has been named as a “potentially responsible party” under the CER, CLA 1980.
(pp) Company Not an “Investment Company”. The Company is not and, after giving effect to the offering and sale of the Placement Shares and the
application of proceeds thereof as described in the Prospectus, will not be an “investment company” within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940,
as amended (the “Investment Company Act”).
(qq) No Unlawful Contributions or Other Payments. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries nor, to the Company’s knowledge, any director,
officer, employee, agent, affiliate or other person acting on behalf of the Company or any such subsidiary has (i) used any corporate funds for any unlawful
contribution, gift, entertainment or other unlawful expense relating to political activity; (ii) made any direct or indirect unlawful payment to any foreign or
domestic government officials or employees, political parties or campaigns, political party officials, or candidates for political office from corporate funds; (iii)
violated or is in violation of any provision of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or any applicable anti-corruption laws, rules, or
regulations of any other jurisdiction in which the Company or any such subsidiary conducts business; or (iv) made any other unlawful bribe, rebate, payoff,
influence payment, kickback or other unlawful payment to any person.
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(rr) Compliance with Money Laundering Laws. The operations of the Company and its subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in
compliance with all applicable financial recordkeeping and reporting requirements, including those of the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by Title III of the
Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (USA PATRIOT Act), and the
applicable anti-money laundering statutes of jurisdictions where the Company and its subsidiaries conduct business, the rules and regulations thereunder and any
related or similar rules, regulations or guidelines, issued, administered or enforced by any governmental agency (collectively, the “Anti-Money Laundering
Laws”), and no action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency, authority, body or any arbitrator involving the Company or any of its
subsidiaries with respect to Anti-Money Laundering Laws is pending, or to the knowledge of the Company, threatened.
(ss) Compliance with OFAC.
(A) Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries, nor any director, officer or employee thereof, nor to the Company’s knowledge, any agent,
affiliate, representative, or other person acting on behalf of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, is an individual or entity (“Person”) that
is, or is owned or controlled by a Person that is: (i) the subject of any sanctions administered or enforced by the U.S. Department of
Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“ OFAC”), the United Nations Security Council (“UNSC”), the European Union (“EU”), Her
Majesty’s Treasury (“HMT”), or other relevant sanctions authority (collectively, “Sanctions”), nor (ii) located, organized, or resident in a
country or territory that is the subject of a U.S. government embargo (including, without limitation, Cuba, Iran, North Kora, Sudan, Syria
and the Crimea).
(B) The Company will not, directly or indirectly, use the Net Proceeds, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such Net Proceeds to any
subsidiary, joint venture partner or other Person: (i) to fund or facilitate any activities or business of or with any Person that, at the time of
such funding or facilitation, is the subject of Sanctions, or in any country or territory that, at the time of such funding or facilitation, is the
subject of a U.S. government embargo; or (ii) in any other manner that will result in a violation of Sanctions by any Person (including
Cowen).
(C) For the past five (5) years, the Company and its subsidiaries have not knowingly engaged in, are not now knowingly engaged in, and will
not knowingly engage in, any direct or indirect dealings or transactions with any Person that at the time of the dealing or transaction is or
was the subject of Sanctions or any country or territory that, at the time of the dealing or transaction is or was the subject of a U.S.
government embargo.
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(tt) Sales of Ordinary Shares. Except as described in the Prospectus, the Company has not sold or issued any Ordinary Shares during the six-month period
preceding the date of the Prospectus, including any sales pursuant to Rule 144A under, or Regulations D or S of, the Securities Act, other than shares issued
pursuant to employee benefit plans, qualified stock options plans or other employee compensation plans or pursuant to outstanding options, rights or warrants.
(uu) ERISA. Except as would not have a Material Adverse Effect, the Company has fulfilled its obligations, if any, under the minimum funding standards
of Section 302 of the U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) and the regulations and published interpretations thereunder with respect
to each “plan” as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA and such regulations and published interpretations in which its employees are eligible to participate and each
such plan is in compliance with the presently applicable provisions of ERISA and such regulations and published interpretations. No “Reportable Event” (as
defined in 12 ERISA) has occurred with respect to any “Pension Plan” (as defined in ERISA) for which the Company could have any liability.
(vv) Jurisdiction. The Company has the power to submit, and pursuant to Section 16 of this Agreement, has legally, validly, effectively and irrevocably
submitted, to the personal jurisdiction of each United States federal court and New York state court located in the Borough of Manhattan, in the City of New York,
New York, U.S.A. (each, a “New York Court”), and the Company has the power to designate, appoint and authorize, and pursuant to Section 16 of this
Agreement, has legally, validly, effectively and irrevocably designated, appointed and authorized an agent for service of process in any action arising out of or
relating to this Agreement in any New York Court, and service of process effected on such authorized agent will be effective to confer valid personal jurisdiction
over the Company as provided in Section 16 hereof.
(ww) Exchange Act Compliance. The documents incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in the Prospectus, at the time they were or
hereafter are filed with the Commission, complied and will comply in all material respects with the requirements of the Exchange Act, and, when read together with
the other information in the Prospectus, at the Settlement Dates, will not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be
stated therein or necessary to make the fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading.
(xx) Brokers. Except for Cowen, there is no broker, finder or other party that is entitled to receive from the Company any brokerage or finder’s fee or
other fee or commission as a result of any transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
(yy) No Outstanding Loans or Other Indebtedness. Except as described in the Prospectus, there are no outstanding loans, advances (except normal
advances for business expenses in the ordinary course of business) or guarantees or indebtedness by the Company to or for the benefit of any of the officers or
directors of the Company or any of the members of any of them.
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(zz) No Reliance. The Company has not relied upon Cowen or legal counsel for Cowen for any legal, tax or accounting advice in connection with the
offering and sale of the Placement Shares.
(aaa) FINRA Exemption. To enable Cowen to rely on Rule 5110(b)(7)(C)(i) of FINRA, the Company represents that the Company (i) has a non-affiliate,
public common equity float of at least $150 million or a non-affiliate, public common equity float of at least $100 million and annual trading volume of at least
three million shares and (ii) has been subject to the Exchange Act reporting requirements for a period of at least 36 months.
(bbb) Compliance with Laws. The Company has not been advised, and has no reason to believe, that it and each of its subsidiaries are not conducting
business in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations of the jurisdictions in which it is conducting business, except where failure to be so in
compliance would not result in a Material Adverse Effect.
Any certificate signed by an officer of the Company and delivered to Cowen or to counsel for Cowen shall be deemed to be a representation and warranty by the
Company to Cowen as to the matters set forth therein.
The Company acknowledges that Cowen and, for purposes of the opinions to be delivered pursuant toSection 7 hereof, counsel to the Company and counsel to
Cowen, will rely upon the accuracy and truthfulness of the foregoing representations and hereby consents to such reliance.
7.

Covenants of the Company. The Company covenants and agrees with Cowen that:

(a) Registration Statement Amendments. After the date of this Agreement and during any period in which a Prospectus relating to any Placement Shares
is required to be delivered by Cowen under the Securities Act (including in circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172 under the
Securities Act or similar rule), (i) the Company will notify Cowen promptly of the time when any subsequent amendment to the Registration Statement, other than
documents incorporated by reference, has been filed with the Commission and/or has become effective or any subsequent supplement to the Prospectus has been
filed and of any request by the Commission for any amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement or Prospectus or for additional information, (ii) the
Company will prepare and file with the Commission, promptly upon Cowen’s request, any amendments or supplements to the Registration Statement or Prospectus
that, in Cowen’s reasonable opinion, may be necessary or advisable in connection with the distribution of the Placement Shares by Cowen (provided, however, that
the failure of Cowen to make such request shall not relieve the Company of any obligation or liability hereunder, or affect Cowen’s right to rely on the
representations and warranties made by the Company in this Agreement); (iii) the Company will not file any amendment or supplement to the Registration
Statement or Prospectus, other than documents incorporated by reference, relating to the Placement Shares or a security convertible into the Placement Shares
unless a copy thereof has been submitted to Cowen within a reasonable period of time before the filing and Cowen has not reasonably objected thereto (provided,
however, that (i) the failure of Cowen to make such objection shall not relieve the Company of any obligation or liability hereunder, or affect Cowen’s right to rely
on the representations and warranties made by the Company in this Agreement, (ii) the Company has no obligation to provide Cowen any advance copy of such
filing or to provide Cowen an opportunity to object to such filing if the filing does not name Cowen and does not relate to the transaction herein, and (iii) the only
remedy that Cowen shall have with respect to the failure by the Company to provide Cowen with such copy or the filing of such amendment or supplement despite
Cowen’s objection shall be to cease making sales under this Agreement) and the Company will furnish to Cowen at the time of filing thereof a copy of any
document that upon filing is deemed to be incorporated by reference into the Registration Statement or Prospectus, except for those documents available via
EDGAR; (iv) the Company will cause each amendment or supplement to the Prospectus, other than documents incorporated by reference, to be filed with the
Commission as required pursuant to the applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) of the Securities Act, and (v) during the term of this Agreement, the Company will
notify Cowen if at any time the Registration Statement shall no longer be effective as a result of the passage of time pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act
or otherwise. Prior to the initial sale of any Placement Shares, the Company shall file a final Prospectus Supplement pursuant to Rule 424(b) relating to the
Placement Shares.
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(b) Notice of Commission Stop Orders. The Company will advise Cowen, promptly after it receives notice or obtains knowledge thereof, of the issuance
or threatened issuance by the Commission of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement, of the suspension of the qualification of the
Placement Shares for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, or of the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for any such purpose; and it will promptly use its
commercially reasonable efforts to prevent the issuance of any stop order or to obtain its withdrawal if such a stop order should be issued.
(c) Delivery of Prospectus; Subsequent Changes. During any period in which a Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares is required to be delivered by
Cowen under the Securities Act with respect to a pending sale of the Placement Shares, (including in circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied
pursuant to Rule 172 under the Securities Act or similar rule), the Company will comply with all requirements imposed upon it by the Securities Act, as from time
to time in force, and to file on or before their respective due dates (taking into account any extensions available under the Exchange Act) all reports and any
definitive proxy or information statements required to be filed by the Company with the Commission pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14, 15(d) or any other
provision of or under the Exchange Act. If during such period any event occurs as a result of which the Prospectus as then amended or supplemented would include
an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances then existing, not
misleading, or if during such period it is necessary to amend or supplement the Registration Statement or Prospectus to comply with the Securities Act, the
Company will promptly notify Cowen to suspend the offering of Placement Shares during such period and the Company will promptly as practicable amend or
supplement the Registration Statement or Prospectus (at the expense of the Company) so as to correct such statement or omission or effect such compliance;
provided, that, the Company may delay the filing of any amendment or supplement, if in the judgment of the Company, it is in the best interest of the Company,
during which time of delay of Cowen shall be under no obligation to make any sales of Placement Shares hereunder.
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(d) Listing of Placement Shares. During any period in which the Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares is required to be delivered by Cowen under
the Securities Act with respect to a pending sale of the Placement Shares (including in circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule
172 under the Securities Act), the Company will use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Placement Shares to be listed on Nasdaq and to qualify the
Placement Shares for sale under the securities laws of such jurisdictions as Cowen reasonably designates and to continue such qualifications in effect so long as
required for the distribution of the Placement Shares; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required in connection therewith to qualify as a foreign
corporation or dealer in securities or file a general consent to service of process in any jurisdiction.
(e) Delivery of Registration Statement and Prospectus. The Company will furnish to Cowen and its counsel (at the expense of the Company) copies of the
Registration Statement, the Prospectus (including all documents incorporated by reference therein) and all amendments and supplements to the Registration
Statement or Prospectus that are filed with the Commission during any period in which a Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares is required to be delivered
under the Securities Act (including all documents filed with the Commission during such period that are deemed to be incorporated by reference therein), in each
case as soon as reasonably practicable and in such quantities as Cowen may from time to time reasonably request and, at Cowen’s request, will also furnish copies
of the Prospectus to each exchange or market on which sales of the Placement Shares may be made; provided, however, that the Company shall not be required to
furnish any document (other than the Prospectus) to Cowen to the extent such document is available on EDGAR.
(f) Earnings Statement. The Company will make generally available to its security holders as soon as practicable, but in any event not later than 15
months after the end of the Company’s current fiscal quarter, an earnings statement covering a 12-month period that satisfies the provisions of Section 11(a) and
Rule 158 of the Securities Act.
(g) Expenses. The Company, whether or not the transactions contemplated hereunder are consummated or this Agreement is terminated, in accordance
with the provisions of Section 11 hereunder, will pay the following expenses all incident to the performance of its obligations hereunder, including, but not limited
to, expenses relating to (i) the preparation, printing and filing of the Registration Statement and each amendment and supplement thereto, and of each Prospectus
and of each amendment and supplement thereto, (ii) the preparation, issuance and delivery of the Placement Shares, (iii) the qualification of the Placement Shares
under securities laws in accordance with the provisions of Section 7(d) of this Agreement, including filing fees (provided, however, that any fees or disbursements
of counsel for Cowen in connection therewith shall be paid by Cowen except as set forth in (vii) below), (iv) the printing and delivery to Cowen of copies of the
Prospectus and any amendments or supplements thereto, and of this Agreement, (v) the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the listing or qualification of
the Placement Shares for trading on Nasdaq, (vi) the filing fees and expenses, if any, of the Commission, (vii) the reasonable fees and disbursements of Cowen’s
counsel in an amount not to exceed $75,000.
(h) Use of Proceeds. The Company will use the Net Proceeds as described in the Prospectus in the section entitled “Use of Proceeds.”
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(i) Notice of Other Sales. During the pendency of any Placement Notice given hereunder, and for five (5) Trading Days following the termination of any
Placement Notice given hereunder, the Company shall provide Cowen notice as promptly as reasonably possible before it offers to sell, contracts to sell, sells,
grants any option to sell or otherwise disposes of any Ordinary Shares (other than Placement Shares offered pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement) or
securities convertible into or exchangeable for Ordinary Shares, warrants or any rights to purchase or acquire Ordinary Shares; provided, that such notice shall not
be required in connection with (i) the issuance, grant or sale of Ordinary Shares, options to purchase Ordinary Shares or Ordinary Shares issuable upon the exercise
of options or other equity awards pursuant to any stock option, stock bonus or other stock plan or arrangement described in the Prospectus, (ii) the issuance of
securities in connection with an acquisition, merger or sale or purchase of assets, (iii) the issuance or sale of Ordinary Shares pursuant to any dividend reinvestment
plan that the Company may adopt from time to time provided the implementation of such is disclosed to Cowen in advance, (iv) the issuance of any Ordinary
Shares issuable upon the exchange, conversion or redemption of securities or the exercise of warrants, options or other rights in effect or outstanding or (v)
Ordinary Shares or securities convertible into or exercisable for Ordinary Shares, offered and sold in a privately negotiated transaction and not for capital raising
purposes to vendors, customers, strategic partners or potential strategic partners and otherwise conducted in a manner so as not to be integrated with the offering of
Ordinary Shares hereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, nothing herein shall be construed to restrict the Company’s ability to file a registration
statement under the Securities Act or require notice to Cowen with respect thereto.
(j) Change of Circumstances. The Company will, at any time during the pendency of a Placement Notice, advise Cowen promptly after it shall have
received notice or obtained knowledge thereof, of any information or fact that would alter or affect in any material respect any opinion, certificate, letter or other
document provided to Cowen pursuant to this Agreement.
(k) Due Diligence Cooperation. During the term of this Agreement, the Company will reasonably cooperate with any reasonable due diligence review
conducted by Cowen or its agents in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including, without limitation, providing information and making
available documents and senior corporate officers, during regular business hours and at the Company’s principal offices, as Cowen may reasonably request.
(l) Required Filings Relating to Placement of Placement Shares. The Company agrees that on such dates as the Securities Act shall require, the Company
will (i) file a prospectus supplement with the Commission under the applicable paragraph of Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act (each and every filing under Rule
424(b), a “Filing Date”), which prospectus supplement will set forth, within the relevant period, the amount of Placement Shares sold through Cowen, the Net
Proceeds to the Company and the compensation payable by the Company to Cowen with respect to such Placement Shares (provided that the Company may satisfy
this obligation by effecting a filing in accordance with the Exchange Act with respect to such information), and (ii) deliver such number of copies of each such
prospectus supplement to each exchange or market on which such sales were effected as may be required by the rules or regulations of such exchange or market.
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(m) Representation Dates; Certificate. On or prior to the First Delivery Date and each time the Company (i) files the Prospectus relating to the Placement
Shares or amends or supplements the Registration Statement or the Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares (other than a prospectus supplement filed in
accordance with Section 7(l) of this Agreement) by means of a post-effective amendment, sticker, or supplement but not by means of incorporation of document(s)
by reference to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares; (ii) files an annual report on Form 10-K under the Exchange Act; (iii)
files its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q under the Exchange Act; or (iv) files a report on Form 8-K containing amended financial information (other than an
earnings release) under the Exchange Act (each date of filing of one or more of the documents referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) shall be a “Representation
Date”); the Company shall furnish Cowen with a certificate, in the form attached hereto asExhibit 7(m) within three (3) Trading Days of any Representation Date
if requested by Cowen. The requirement to provide a certificate under this Section 7(m) shall be waived for any Representation Date occurring at a time at which
no Placement Notice is pending, which waiver shall continue until the earlier to occur of the date the Company delivers a Placement Notice hereunder (which for
such calendar quarter shall be considered a Representation Date) and the next occurring Representation Date; provided, however, that such waiver shall not apply
for any Representation Date on which the Company files its annual report on Form 10-K. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company subsequently decides to
sell Placement Shares following a Representation Date when the Company relied on such waiver and did not provide Cowen with a certificate under this Section
7(m), then before the Company delivers the Placement Notice or Cowen sells any Placement Shares, the Company shall provide Cowen with a certificate, in the
form attached hereto as Exhibit 7(m), dated the date of the Placement Notice.
(n) Legal Opinions. On or prior to the First Delivery Date and within three (3) Trading Days of each Representation Date with respect to which the
Company is obligated to deliver a certificate in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 7(m) for which no waiver is applicable, the Company shall cause to be
furnished to Cowen written opinions of McDermott Will & Emery LLP and Meitar Liquornik Geva Leshem Tal (“ Company Counsel”), or other counsel
satisfactory to Cowen, in form and substance satisfactory to Cowen and its counsel, dated the date that the opinions are required to be delivered, respectively,
modified, as necessary, to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as then amended or supplemented; provided, however, that in lieu of such
opinions for subsequent Representation Dates, each counsel may furnish Cowen with a letter (a “Reliance Letter”) to the effect that Cowen may rely on a prior
opinion delivered under this Section 7(n) to the same extent as if it were dated the date of such letter (except that statements in such prior opinion shall be deemed
to relate to the Registration Statement and the Prospectus as amended or supplemented at such Representation Date).
(o) Comfort Letter. On or prior to the First Delivery Date and within three (3) Trading Days of each Representation Date with respect to which the
Company is obligated to deliver a certificate in the form attached hereto as Exhibit 7(m) for which no waiver is applicable, the Company shall cause its
independent accountants to furnish Cowen letters (the “Comfort Letters”), dated the date the Comfort Letter is delivered, in form and substance satisfactory to
Cowen, (i) confirming that they are an independent registered public accounting firm within the meaning of the Securities Act and the PCAOB, (ii) stating, as of
such date, the conclusions and findings of such firm with respect to the financial information and other matters ordinarily covered by accountants’ “comfort
letters” to Cowen in connection with registered public offerings (the first such letter, the “Initial Comfort Letter”) and (iii) updating the Initial Comfort Letter
with any information that would have been included in the Initial Comfort Letter had it been given on such date and modified as necessary to relate to the
Registration Statement and the Prospectus, as amended and supplemented to the date of such letter.
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(p) Market Activities . The Company will not, directly or indirectly, (i) take any action designed to cause or result in, or that constitutes or might
reasonably be expected to constitute, the stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of the Placement
Shares or (ii) sell, bid for, or purchase the Ordinary Shares to be issued and sold pursuant to this Agreement, or pay anyone any compensation for soliciting
purchases of the Placement Shares other than Cowen; provided, however, that the Company may bid for and purchase ordinary shares in accordance with Rule
10b-18 under the Exchange Act.
(q) Insurance. The Company and its subsidiaries shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, insurance in such amounts and covering such risks as is
reasonable and customary for the business for which it is engaged.
(r) Compliance with Laws. The Company and each of its subsidiaries shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, all material environmental permits,
licenses and other authorizations required by federal, state and local law in order to conduct their businesses as described in the Prospectus, and the Company and
each of its subsidiaries shall conduct their businesses, or cause their businesses to be conducted, in substantial compliance with such permits, licenses and
authorizations and with applicable Environmental Laws, except where the failure to maintain or be in compliance with such permits, licenses and authorizations
could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
(s) Investment Company Act. The Company will conduct its affairs in such a manner so as to reasonably ensure that neither it nor its subsidiaries will be
or become, at any time prior to the termination of this Agreement, an “investment company,” as such term is defined in the Investment Company Act, assuming no
change in the Commission’s current interpretation as to entities that are not considered an investment company.
(t) Securities Act and Exchange Act. The Company will use its best efforts to comply with all requirements imposed upon it by the Securities Act and the
Exchange Act as from time to time in force, so far as necessary to permit the continuance of sales of, or dealings in, the Placement Shares as contemplated by the
provisions hereof and the Prospectus.
(u) No Offer to Sell. Other than the Prospectus, as supplemented, or a free writing prospectus (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) approved
in advance by the Company and Cowen in its capacity as principal or agent hereunder, neither Cowen nor the Company (including its agents and representatives,
other than Cowen in its capacity as such) will make, use, prepare, authorize, approve or refer to any written communication (as defined in Rule 405 under the
Securities Act), required to be filed with the Commission, that constitutes an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy Ordinary Shares hereunder.
(v) Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Company and its subsidiaries will use their best efforts to comply with all effective applicable provisions of the SarbanesOxley Act.
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(w) Emerging Growth Company Status. The Company will promptly notify Cowen if the Company ceases to be an Emerging Growth Company at any
time prior to December 31, 2020.
8.
Conditions to Cowen’s Obligations. The obligations of Cowen hereunder with respect to a Placement Notice will be subject to the continuing
accuracy and completeness of the representations and warranties made by the Company herein, to the due performance by the Company of its obligations
hereunder, to the completion by Cowen of a due diligence review satisfactory to Cowen in its reasonable judgment, and to the continuing satisfaction (or waiver by
Cowen in its sole discretion) of the following additional conditions:
( a ) Registration Statement Effective. The Registration Statement shall be effective and shall be available for the sale of all Placement Shares
contemplated to be issued by any Placement Notice.
(b) No Material Notices. None of the following events shall have occurred and be continuing: (i) receipt by the Company or any of its subsidiaries of any
request for additional information from the Commission or any other federal or state governmental authority during the period of effectiveness of the Registration
Statement, the response to which would require any post-effective amendments or supplements to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus; (ii) the issuance by
the Commission or any other federal or state governmental authority of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or the initiation
of any proceedings for that purpose; (iii) receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification or exemption from
qualification of any of the Placement Shares for sale in any jurisdiction or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose; or (iv) the occurrence of
any event that makes any material statement made in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or any material document incorporated or deemed to be
incorporated therein by reference untrue in any material respect or that requires the making of any changes in the Registration Statement, related Prospectus or
such documents so that, in the case of the Registration Statement, it will not contain any materially untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material
fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading and, that in the case of the Prospectus, it will not contain any
materially untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the light
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
(c) No Misstatement or Material Omission. Cowen shall not have advised the Company that the Registration Statement or Prospectus, or any amendment
or supplement thereto, contains an untrue statement of fact that in Cowen’s reasonable opinion is material, or omits to state a fact that in Cowen’s opinion is
material and is required to be stated therein or is necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
(d) Material Changes. Except as contemplated in the Prospectus, or disclosed in the Company’s reports filed with the Commission, there shall not have
been any material adverse change, on a consolidated basis, in the authorized capital stock of the Company or any Material Adverse Effect or any development that
could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or any downgrading in or withdrawal of the rating assigned to any of the Company’s securities
(other than asset backed securities) by any rating organization or a public announcement by any rating organization that it has under surveillance or review its
rating of any of the Company’s securities (other than asset backed securities), the effect of which, in the case of any such action by a rating organization described
above, in the reasonable judgment of Cowen (without relieving the Company of any obligation or liability it may otherwise have), is so material as to make it
impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with the offering of the Placement Shares on the terms and in the manner contemplated in the Prospectus.
-23-

(e) Company Counsel Legal Opinions. Cowen shall have received the opinions of Company Counsel required to be delivered pursuant to Section 7(n) on
or before the date on which such delivery of such opinions are required pursuant to Section 7(n).
(f) Cowen Counsel Legal Opinion. Cowen shall have received from Cooley LLP, counsel for Cowen, such opinion or opinions, on or before the date on
which the delivery of the Company Counsel legal opinions is required pursuant to Section 7(n), with respect to such matters as Cowen may reasonably require, and
the Company shall have furnished to such counsel such documents as they request for enabling them to pass upon such matters.
(g) Comfort Letter. Cowen shall have received the Comfort Letter required to be delivered pursuant toSection 7(o) on or before the date on which such
delivery of such Comfort Letter is required pursuant to Section 7(o).
(h) Representation Certificate. Cowen shall have received the certificate required to be delivered pursuant toSection 7(m) on or before the date on which
delivery of such certificate is required pursuant to Section 7(m).
( i ) Secretary’s Certificate. On or prior to the First Delivery Date, Cowen shall have received a certificate, signed on behalf of the Company by its
corporate Secretary, in form and substance satisfactory to Cowen and its counsel.
(j) No Suspension. Trading in the Ordinary Shares shall not have been suspended on Nasdaq.
(k) Other Materials. On each date on which the Company is required to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 7(m), the Company shall have furnished
to Cowen such appropriate further information, certificates and documents as Cowen may have reasonably requested. All such opinions, certificates, letters and
other documents shall have been in compliance with the provisions hereof. The Company will furnish Cowen with such conformed copies of such opinions,
certificates, letters and other documents as Cowen shall have reasonably requested.
(l) Securities Act Filings Made. All filings with the Commission required by Rule 424 under the Securities Act to have been filed prior to the issuance of
any Placement Notice hereunder shall have been made within the applicable time period prescribed for such filing by Rule 424.
(m) Approval for Listing. The Placement Shares shall either have been (i) approved for listing on Nasdaq, subject only to notice of issuance, or (ii) the
Company shall have filed an application for listing of the Placement Shares on Nasdaq at, or prior to, the issuance of any Placement Notice.
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(n) No Termination Event. There shall not have occurred any event that would permit Cowen to terminate this Agreement pursuant toSection 11(a).
(o) IIA Consent. The Company shall have received the consent of the IIA in connection with the offering of the Placement Shares.
9.

Indemnification and Contribution.

(a) Company Indemnification. The Company agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Cowen, the directors, officers, partners, employees and agents of
Cowen and each person, if any, who (i) controls Cowen within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act, or (ii) is
controlled by or is under common control with Cowen (a “Cowen Affiliate”) from and against any and all losses, claims, liabilities, expenses and damages
(including, but not limited to, any and all reasonable investigative, legal and other expenses incurred in connection with, and any and all amounts paid in
settlement (in accordance with Section 9(c)) of, any action, suit or proceeding between any of the indemnified parties and any indemnifying parties or between any
indemnified party and any third party, or otherwise, or any claim asserted), as and when incurred, to which Cowen, or any such person, may become subject under
the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or other federal or state statutory law or regulation, at common law or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims, liabilities,
expenses or damages arise out of or are based, directly or indirectly, on (x) any untrue statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the
Registration Statement or the Prospectus or any amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or in any free writing prospectus or in
any application or other document executed by or on behalf of the Company or based on written information furnished by or on behalf of the Company filed in any
jurisdiction in order to qualify the Placement Shares under the securities laws thereof or filed with the Commission, or (y) the omission or alleged omission to state
in any such document a material fact required to be stated in it or necessary to make the statements in it not misleading; provided, however, that this indemnity
agreement shall not apply to the extent that such loss, claim, liability, expense or damage arises from the sale of the Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement
and is caused directly or indirectly by an untrue statement or omission made in reliance upon and in conformity with the Agent’s Information. This indemnity
agreement will be in addition to any liability that the Company might otherwise have.
(b) Cowen Indemnification. Cowen agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Company and its directors and each officer of the Company that signed
the Registration Statement, and each person, if any, who controls the Company within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the
Exchange Act against any and all loss, liability, claim, damage and expense described in the indemnity contained in Section 9(a), as incurred, but only with respect
to untrue statements or omissions, or alleged untrue statements or omissions, made in the Registration Statement (or any amendments thereto) or the Prospectus (or
any amendment or supplement thereto) in reliance upon and in conformity with the Agent’s Information.
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(c) Procedure. Any party that proposes to assert the right to be indemnified under this Section 9 will, promptly after receipt of notice of commencement
of any action against such party in respect of which a claim is to be made against an indemnifying party or parties under this Section 9, notify in writing each such
indemnifying party of the commencement of such action, enclosing a copy of all papers served, but the omission so to notify such indemnifying party will not
relieve the indemnifying party from (i) any liability that it might have to any indemnified party otherwise than under this Section 9 and (ii) any liability that it may
have to any indemnified party under the foregoing provision of this Section 9 unless, and only to the extent that, such omission results in the forfeiture of
substantive rights or defenses by the indemnifying party. If any such action is brought against any indemnified party and it notifies the indemnifying party of its
commencement, the indemnifying party will be entitled to participate in and, to the extent that it elects by delivering written notice to the indemnified party
promptly after receiving notice of the commencement of the action from the indemnified party, jointly with any other indemnifying party similarly notified, to
assume the defense of the action, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party, and after notice from the indemnifying party to the indemnified
party of its election to assume the defense, the indemnifying party will not be liable to the indemnified party for any legal or other expenses except as provided
below and except for the reasonable costs of investigation subsequently incurred by the indemnified party in connection with the defense. The indemnified party
will have the right to employ its own counsel in any such action, but the fees, expenses and other charges of such counsel will be at the expense of such
indemnified party unless (1) the employment of counsel by the indemnified party has been authorized in writing by the indemnifying party, (2) the indemnified
party has reasonably concluded (based on advice of counsel) that there may be legal defenses available to it or other indemnified parties that are different from or
in addition to those available to the indemnifying party, (3) a conflict or potential conflict exists (based on advice of counsel to the indemnified party) between the
indemnified party and the indemnifying party (in which case the indemnifying party will not have the right to direct the defense of such action on behalf of the
indemnified party) or (4) the indemnifying party has not in fact employed counsel to assume the defense of such action within a reasonable time after receiving
notice of the commencement of the action, in each of which cases the reasonable fees, disbursements and other charges of counsel will be at the expense of the
indemnifying party or parties. It is understood that the indemnifying party or parties shall not, in connection with any proceeding or related proceedings in the same
jurisdiction, be liable for the reasonable fees, disbursements and other charges of more than one separate firm admitted to practice in such jurisdiction at any one
time for all such indemnified party or parties. All such fees, disbursements and other charges will be reimbursed by the indemnifying party after they are incurred
but no later than 30 days after the indemnifying party’s receipt of a written invoice of such expenses detailing such fees, disbursements and other charges. An
indemnifying party will not, in any event, be liable for any settlement of any action or claim effected without its written consent. No indemnifying party shall,
without the prior written consent of each indemnified party, settle or compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment in any pending or threatened claim,
action or proceeding relating to the matters contemplated by this Section 9 (whether or not any indemnified party is a party thereto), unless such settlement,
compromise or consent includes an unconditional release of each indemnified party from all liability arising or that may arise out of such claim, action or
proceeding.
-26-

(d) Contribution. In order to provide for just and equitable contribution in circumstances in which the indemnification provided for in the foregoing
paragraphs of this Section 9 is applicable in accordance with its terms but for any reason is held to be unavailable from the Company or Cowen, the Company and
Cowen will contribute to the total losses, claims, liabilities, expenses and damages (including any investigative, legal and other expenses reasonably incurred in
connection with, and any amount paid in settlement of, any action, suit or proceeding or any claim asserted, but after deducting any contribution received by the
Company from persons other than Cowen, such as persons who control the Company within the meaning of the Securities Act, officers of the Company who
signed the Registration Statement and directors of the Company, who also may be liable for contribution) to which the Company and Cowen may be subject in
such proportion as shall be appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and Cowen on the other. The relative benefits
received by the Company on the one hand and Cowen on the other hand shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total Net Proceeds from the sale of the
Placement Shares (before deducting expenses) received by the Company bear to the total compensation received by Cowen from the sale of Placement Shares on
behalf of the Company. If, but only if, the allocation provided by the foregoing sentence is not permitted by applicable law, the allocation of contribution shall be
made in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits referred to in the foregoing sentence but also the relative fault of the Company, on
the one hand, and Cowen, on the other, with respect to the statements or omission that resulted in such loss, claim, liability, expense or damage, or action in respect
thereof, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations with respect to such offering. Such relative fault shall be determined by reference to, among other
things, whether the untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by
the Company or Cowen, the intent of the parties and their relative knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or
omission. The Company and Cowen agree that it would not be just and equitable if contributions pursuant to this Section 9(d) were to be determined by pro rata
allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take into account the equitable considerations referred to herein. The amount paid or payable by an
indemnified party as a result of the loss, claim, liability, expense, or damage, or action in respect thereof, referred to above in this Section 9(d) shall be deemed to
include, for the purpose of this Section 9(d), any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating or
defending any such action or claim to the extent consistent with Section 9(c) hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 9(d), Cowen shall not
be required to contribute any amount in excess of the commissions received by it under this Agreement and no person found guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation
(within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) will be entitled to contribution from any person who was not guilty of such fraudulent
misrepresentation. For purposes of this Section 9(d), any person who controls a party to this Agreement within the meaning of the Securities Act, and any officers,
directors, partners, employees or agents of Cowen, will have the same rights to contribution as that party, and each director of the Company and each officer of the
Company who signed the Registration Statement will have the same rights to contribution as the Company, subject in each case to the provisions hereof. Any party
entitled to contribution, promptly after receipt of notice of commencement of any action against such party in respect of which a claim for contribution may be
made under this Section 9(d), will notify any such party or parties from whom contribution may be sought, but the omission to so notify will not relieve that party
or parties from whom contribution may be sought from any other obligation it or they may have under this Section 9(d) except to the extent that the failure to so
notify such other party materially prejudiced the substantive rights or defenses of the party from whom contribution is sought. Except for a settlement entered into
pursuant to the last sentence of Section 9(c) hereof, no party will be liable for contribution with respect to any action or claim settled without its written consent if
such consent is required pursuant to Section 9(c) hereof.
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10.
Representations and Agreements to Survive Delivery. The indemnity and contribution agreements contained in Section 9 of this Agreement
and all representations and warranties of the Company herein or in certificates delivered pursuant hereto shall survive, as of their respective dates, regardless of (i)
any investigation made by or on behalf of Cowen, any controlling persons, or the Company (or any of their respective officers, directors or controlling persons), (ii)
delivery and acceptance of the Placement Shares and payment therefor or (iii) any termination of this Agreement.
11.

Termination.

(a) Cowen shall have the right by giving written notice as hereinafter specified at any time to terminate this Agreement if (i) any Material Adverse Effect,
or any development that could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect has occurred that, in the reasonable judgment of Cowen, may
materially impair the ability of Cowen to sell the Placement Shares hereunder, (ii) the Company shall have failed, refused or been unable to perform any agreement
on its part to be performed hereunder; provided, however, in the case of any failure of the Company to deliver (or cause another person to deliver) any certification,
opinion, or letter required under Sections 7(m), 7(n), or 7(o), Cowen’s right to terminate shall not arise unless such failure to deliver (or cause to be delivered)
continues for more than thirty (30) days from the date such delivery was required; or (iii) any other condition of Cowen’s obligations hereunder is not fulfilled, or
(iv) any suspension or limitation of trading in the Placement Shares or in securities generally on Nasdaq shall have occurred. Any such termination shall be without
liability of any party to any other party except that the provisions of Section 7(g) (Expenses), Section 9 (Indemnification and Contribution), Section 10
(Representations and Agreements to Survive Delivery), Section 16 (Applicable Law; Consent to Jurisdiction), Section 17 (Waiver of Jury Trial) and Section 18
(Judgement Currency) hereof shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination. If Cowen elects to terminate this Agreement as provided in this
Section 11(a), Cowen shall provide the required notice as specified in Section 12 (Notices).
(b) The Company shall have the right, by giving five (5) days notice as hereinafter specified to terminate this Agreement in its sole discretion at any time
after the date of this Agreement. Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except that the provisions ofSection 7(g), Section
9, Section 10, Section 16, Section 17 and Section 18 hereof shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.
(c) Cowen shall have the right, by giving five (5) days notice as hereinafter specified to terminate this Agreement in its sole discretion at any time after
the date of this Agreement. Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except that the provisions ofSection 7(g), Section 9,
Section 10, Section 16, Section 17 and Section 18 hereof shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.
(d) Unless earlier terminated pursuant to this Section 11, this Agreement shall automatically terminate upon the issuance and sale of all of the Placement
Shares through Cowen on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein; provided that the provisions of Section 7(g), Section 9, Section 10, Section 16,
Section 17 and Section 18 hereof shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.
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( e ) This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless terminated pursuant to Sections 11(a), (b), (c), or (d) above or otherwise by mutual
agreement of the parties; provided, however, that any such termination by mutual agreement shall in all cases be deemed to provide thatSection 7(g), Section 9,
Section 10, Section 16, Section 17 and Section 18 shall remain in full force and effect.
(f) Any termination of this Agreement shall be effective on the date specified in such notice of termination; provided, however, that such termination
shall not be effective until the close of business on the date of receipt of such notice by Cowen or the Company, as the case may be. If such termination shall occur
prior to the Settlement Date for any sale of Placement Shares, such Placement Shares shall settle in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.
12.
Notices. All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given by any party to any other party pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement shall be in writing, unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, and if sent to Cowen, shall be delivered to Cowen at Cowen and Company, LLC, 599
Lexington Avenue, New York, NY 10022, fax no. 646-562-1124, Attention: General Counsel, with a copy to Cooley LLP, 1114 Avenue of the Americas, New
York, NY 10036, fax no. (212) 479-6275, Attention: Daniel I. Goldberg; or if sent to the Company, shall be delivered to Intec Pharma Ltd., 12 Hartom St., Har
Hotzvim, Jerusalem, Israel fax no. 972-77-4701797, attention: Nir Sassi with a copy to McDermott Will & Emery LLP 340 Madison Avenue, New York, NY
10173-1922, fax no. 212 547 5444, attention: Gary Emmanuel. Each party to this Agreement may change such address for notices by sending to the parties to this
Agreement written notice of a new address for such purpose. Each such notice or other communication shall be deemed given (i) when delivered personally or by
verifiable facsimile transmission (with an original to follow) on or before 4:30 p.m., New York City time, on a Business Day (as defined below), or, if such day is
not a Business Day on the next succeeding Business Day, (ii) on the next Business Day after timely delivery to a nationally-recognized overnight courier, (iii) on
the Business Day actually received if deposited in the U.S. mail (certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid) and (iv) when delivered by
electronic communication (“Electronic Notice”), at the time the party sending Electronic Notice receives written verification of receipt by the receiving party,
other than via auto reply. For purposes of this Agreement, “ Business Day” shall mean any day on which the Nasdaq and commercial banks in the City of New
York are open for business.
13.
Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and Cowen and their respective
successors and the affiliates, controlling persons, officers and directors referred to in Section 9 hereof. References to any of the parties contained in this Agreement
shall be deemed to include the successors and permitted assigns of such party. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to confer upon any party
other than the parties hereto or their respective successors and permitted assigns any rights, remedies, obligations or liabilities under or by reason of this
Agreement, except as expressly provided in this Agreement. Neither party may assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the prior written
consent of the other party; provided, however, that Cowen may assign its rights and obligations hereunder to an affiliate of Cowen without obtaining the
Company’s consent.
14.
Adjustments for Share Splits. The parties acknowledge and agree that all share-related numbers contained in this Agreement shall be adjusted
to take into account any share split, share dividend or similar event effected with respect to the Ordinary Shares.
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15.
Entire Agreement; Amendment; Severability . This Agreement (including all schedules and exhibits attached hereto and Placement Notices
issued pursuant hereto) constitutes the entire agreement and supersedes all other prior and contemporaneous agreements and undertakings, both written and oral,
among the parties hereto with regard to the subject matter hereof. Neither this Agreement nor any term hereof may be amended except pursuant to a written
instrument executed by the Company and Cowen. In the event that any one or more of the provisions contained herein, or the application thereof in any
circumstance, is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable as written by a court of competent jurisdiction, then such provision shall be given full force and effect to the
fullest possible extent that it is valid, legal and enforceable, and the remainder of the terms and provisions herein shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or
unenforceable term or provision was not contained herein, but only to the extent that giving effect to such provision and the remainder of the terms and provisions
hereof shall be in accordance with the intent of the parties as reflected in this Agreement.
16.
Applicable Law; Consent to Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State
of New York applicable to agreements made and to be performed in such state. Any legal suit, action or proceeding arising out of or based upon this Agreement or
the transactions contemplated hereby (“Related Proceedings”) may be instituted in the federal courts of the United States of America located in the Borough of
Manhattan in the City of New York or the courts of the State of New York in each case located in the Borough of Manhattan in the City of New York (collectively,
the “Specified Courts”), and each party irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction (except for proceedings instituted in regard to the enforcement of a
judgment of any such court (a “Related Judgment”), as to which such jurisdiction is non-exclusive) of such courts in any such suit, action or proceeding. Service of
any process, summons, notice or document by mail to such party’s address set forth above shall be effective service of process for any suit, action or other
proceeding brought in any such court. The parties irrevocably and unconditionally waive any objection to the laying of venue of any suit, action or other
proceeding in the Specified Courts and irrevocably and unconditionally waive and agree not to plead or claim in any such court that any such suit, action or other
proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum. The Company has irrevocably appointed Intec Pharma, Inc., which currently
maintains an office at 3 Columbus Circle, 15th Floor, New York, New York 10019, United States of America, as its agent to receive service of process or other
legal summons for purposes of any such suit, action or proceeding that may be instituted in any state or federal court in the Borough of Manhattan in the City of
New York, United States of America. With respect to any Related Proceeding, each party irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, all
immunity (whether on the basis of sovereignty or otherwise) from jurisdiction, service of process, attachment (both before and after judgment) and execution to
which it might otherwise be entitled in the Specified Courts, and with respect to any Related Judgment, each party waives any such immunity in the Specified
Courts or any other court of competent jurisdiction, and will not raise or claim or cause to be pleaded any such immunity at or in respect of any such Related
Proceeding or Related Judgment, including, without limitation, any immunity pursuant to the United States Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act of 1976, as
amended.
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17.
Waiver of Jury Trial. The Company and Cowen each hereby irrevocably waives any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any claim
based upon or arising out of this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby.
18.
Judgement Currency. The obligations of the Company pursuant to this Agreement in respect of any sum due to the Cowen shall,
notwithstanding any judgment in a currency other than United States dollars, not be discharged until the first business day, following receipt by Cowen of any sum
adjudged to be so due in such other currency, on which Cowen may in accordance with normal banking procedures purchase United States dollars with such other
currency. If the United States dollars so purchased are less than the sum originally due to Cowen in United States dollars hereunder, the Company agrees as a
separate obligation and notwithstanding any such judgment, to indemnify Cowen against such loss. If the United States dollars so purchased are greater than the
sum originally due to Cowen hereunder, Cowen agrees to pay to the Company an amount equal to the excess of the dollars so purchased over the sum originally
due to Cowen hereunder. All payments made or deemed to be made by the Company under this Agreement, if any, will be made without withholding or deduction
for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature (other than taxes on net income) imposed or
levied by or on behalf of the State of Israel, any other jurisdiction from or through which payment is made, or, in each case, any political subdivision or any taxing
authority thereof or therein unless the Company is or becomes required by law to withhold or deduct such taxes, duties, assessments or other governmental
charges. In such event, the Company will pay such additional amounts as will result, after such withholding or deduction, in the receipt Cowen, its officers and
employees and each person controlling Cowen, as the case may be, of the amounts that would otherwise have been receivable in respect thereof.
19.

Absence of Fiduciary Relationship. The Company acknowledges and agrees that:

(a) Cowen has been retained solely to act as sales agent in connection with the sale of the Placement Shares and that no fiduciary, advisory or agency
relationship between the Company and Cowen has been created in respect of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, irrespective of whether
Cowen has advised or is advising the Company on other matters;
(b) the Company is capable of evaluating and understanding and understands and accepts the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement;
(c) the Company has been advised that Cowen and its affiliates are engaged in a broad range of transactions which may involve interests that differ from
those of the Company and that Cowen has no obligation to disclose such interests and transactions to the Company by virtue of any fiduciary, advisory or agency
relationship; and
(d) the Company waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims it may have against Cowen, for breach of fiduciary duty or alleged breach of
fiduciary duty and agrees that Cowen shall have no liability (whether direct or indirect) to the Company in respect of such a fiduciary claim or to any person
asserting a fiduciary duty claim on behalf of or in right of the Company, including stockholders, partners, employees or creditors of the Company.
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20.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed Agreement by one party to the other may be made by facsimile transmission or
other means of electronic transmission.
21.

Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following term has the meaning set forth below:

(a) “Agent’s Information” means, solely the following information in the Prospectus: the third sentence of the eighth paragraph under the caption “Plan
of Distribution” in the Prospectus.
(b) “Governmental Authority” means (i) any federal, provincial, state, local, municipal, national or international government or governmental authority,
regulatory or administrative agency, governmental commission, department, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, court, tribunal, arbitrator or arbitral body
(public or private); (ii) any self-regulatory organization; or (iii) any political subdivision of any of the foregoing.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Blank]
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If the foregoing correctly sets forth the understanding between the Company and Cowen, please so indicate in the space provided below for that purpose,
whereupon this letter shall constitute a binding agreement between the Company and Cowen.
Very truly yours,
COWEN AND COMPANY, LLC
By:

/s/ Michael Murphy
Name: Michael Murphy
Title: Managing Director

ACCEPTED as of the date
first-above written:
INTEC PHARMA LTD.
By:
/s/ Nir Sassi
Name: Nir Sassi
Title: Chief Financial Officer

SCHEDULE 1
FORM OF PLACEMENT NOTICE
From:

[

]

Cc:

[

]

To:

[

]

Subject: Cowen at the Market Offering—Placement Notice
Gentlemen:
Pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions contained in the Sales Agreement between Intec Pharma Ltd. (the “Company”), and Cowen and Company, LLC
(“Cowen”) dated [ ] (the “Agreement”), I hereby request on behalf of the Company that Cowen sell up to [ ] of the Company’s ordinary shares, no par value per
share, at a minimum market price of $_______ per share. Sales should begin on the date of this Notice and shall continue until [DATE] [all shares are sold].

SCHEDULE 2
Placement Notice Individuals

The Company
Jeffrey Meckler, Chief Executive Officer
Nir Sassi, Chief Financial Officer
Cowen and Company, LLC
Michael Murphy
Sam Herzig
Bill Follis

SCHEDULE 3

Compensation
Cowen shall be paid compensation equal to 3.0 % of the gross proceeds from the sales of Ordinary Shares pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

Exhibit 7(m)
OFFICER CERTIFICATE
The undersigned, the duly qualified and elected _______________________, of Intec Pharma Ltd., a company organized and existing under the laws of the State
of Israel, public company number 513022780 (the “Company”), does hereby certify in such capacity and on behalf of the Company, pursuant toSection 7(m) of
the Sales Agreement dated February [__], 2019 (the “Sales Agreement”) between the Company and Cowen and Company, LLC, that to the best of the knowledge
of the undersigned.
(i)
The representations and warranties of the Company in Section 6 of the Sales Agreement (A) to the extent such representations and warranties are
subject to qualifications and exceptions contained therein relating to materiality or Material Adverse Effect, are true and correct on and as of the date hereof with
the same force and effect as if expressly made on and as of the date hereof, except for those representations and warranties that speak solely as of a specific date
and which were true and correct as of such date, and (B) to the extent such representations and warranties are not subject to any qualifications or exceptions, are
true and correct in all material respects as of the date hereof as if made on and as of the date hereof with the same force and effect as if expressly made on and as of
the date hereof except for those representations and warranties that speak solely as of a specific date and which were true and correct as of such date; and
(ii)
The Company has complied with all agreements and satisfied all conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied pursuant to the Sales
Agreement at or prior to the date hereof.
By:
Name:
Title:
Date:

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Jeffrey A. Meckler, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2019 of Intec Pharma Ltd. (the “registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: November 12, 2019
/s/ Jeffrey A. Meckler
Jeffrey A. Meckler
Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chairman

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Nir Sassi, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2019 of Intec Pharma Ltd. (the “registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: November 12, 2019
/s/ Nir Sassi
Nir Sassi
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
Intec Pharma Ltd.
Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Intec Pharma Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jeffrey A. Meckler, Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chairman of the Company, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(a)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(b)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Jeffrey A. Meckler
Jeffrey A. Meckler
Chief Executive Officer and Vice Chairman
Date: November 12, 2019

Exhibit 32.2
Intec Pharma Ltd.
Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Intec Pharma Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2019 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Nir Sassi, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(a)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(b)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Nir Sassi
Nir Sassi
Chief Financial Officer

Date: November 12, 2019

